
 
 

OPEN LAMBTON COLLEGE BOARD MEETING 
Thursday, June 3, 2021 

VIA Teams 
4:30 p.m. 
AGENDA 

 

     

4:30 1.  CALL TO ORDER 
 
 

J. McMichael-   
    Dennis 

 

 2.  INDIGENOUS TRUTH AND RECONCILATION 
LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
At Lambton College, we are always very grateful for 
the land we live on, for the land we teach and work on, 
for the land we play and compete on and for the land 
we learn on. 
 
It is with this gratitude in our hearts that before important 
events such as this one today that we are always very 
proud to acknowledge that: 
Lambton College is located on the beautiful homeland 
that is the traditional territory of the Ojibwe, Potawatomi 
and Odawa First Nations. These three individual Nations 
make up the traditional Three Fires Confederacy. We 
acknowledge the grace and the welcome they have 
offered to all students, staff and guests at Lambton 
College. 
 

J. Morris  

 3.  CONSENT AGENDA (attachments) 
1.  June 3, 2021 Agenda 
2.  April 8, 2021 Open Minutes 
3.  Report from the April 8th, 2021 In-Camera   
     Meeting 
4.  Chair’s Report 
5.  Conflict of Interest Declaration 
Recommendation: That the Board of Governors 
approves the minutes of the Open Meeting of April 8, 
2021 and the entire contents of the consent agenda. 
2021-19 
 
 

J. McMichael-
Dennis 

approval 



4:35 4.  STUDENT IMPACT STORY 
Cole Campbell, Graduate, Community Integration 
Through Co-operative Education (CICE) program 
 

S. Dickson information 

4:45 5.  DRAFT AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 (attachment)  
Randy Dunn, Audit and Assurance Partner, BDO 
Canada 
Recommendation: That the Board of Governors 
approves the Finance and Property Committee 
recommendation to consolidate the 
Virtualization/Mobile Learning and New Program 
Capital Equipment reserves into the IT & Learning 
Infrastructure Reserve AND THAT the Board of 
Governors approves the Finance and Property 
Committee recommendation to approve the Transfer 
to Capital Reserves for: 
• Campus Renewal – $9,226,920 
• IT & Learning Infrastructure - $2,100,000 
• Insurance Retention - $200,000 
• Research - $42,767 
AND THAT the Board of Governors approves the 
Finance and Property Committee recommendation to 
approve the audited financial statements for the year 
ended March 31, 2021. 2021-20 
 

S. Dickson approval 

5:00 6.  2020 SEXUAL ASSAULT AND SEXUAL VIOLENCE 
ANNUAL REPORT (attachments) 
Laura Burke, Safety and Security Specialist 
Patrick Bennett, Director Institutional Intelligence and 
Registrar 
Recommendation: That the Board of Governors 
approves the 2020 Sexual Assault and Sexual Violence 
Annual Report. 2021-21 
 

R. Kardas    approval 

5:15 7.  QUALITY ASSURANCE (attachment) 
Patrick Bennett, Director Institutional Intelligence &  
Registrar  

• 2020 Quality Assurance Report  

• College Quality Assurance Audit Process Report 
Recommendation: That the Board of Governors 
approves the 2020 Quality Assurance Report. 2021-22. 
 

S. Dickson    approval 

5:30 8.  BOARD OFFICER ELECTION (attachments) 
 

S. Dickson approval 



5:35 9.  2021-2022 ANNUAL CALENDAR (attachments)  
Recommendation: That the Board of Governors 
approves the Board Executive recommendation to 
approve the 2021-2022 Annual Board Calendar as 
presented. 2021-23 
 

J. McMichael-
Dennis 

     approval 

5:40 10.  PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 

J. Morris    information 

5:45 11.  GOVERNANCE REPORT  
Recommendation: That the Board of Governors 
approves the Governance Report and all decisions and 
motions therein, as presented. 2021-24 
 

J. McMichael 
Dennis 

     approval 

5:50 12.  OTHER BUSINESS 
1. Program Advisory Committee Meeting Reports 
2. Recognition – Retiring Governors/Staff 

 

J.McMichael-
Dennis 

   information 

6:05 13.  ADJOURNMENT   
 
In-Camera Session to follow. 
            

 Members                                 Resource  
J. McMichael-Dennis, Chair Dave Mitton   Mehdi Sheikhzadeh 

Barry Hogan, 1st Vice-Chair  Judith Morris Rob Kardas 
Susan Ferguson, 2nd Vice-Chair  Dave Park Marc Guilbeault 
Michael Caverly  
Emily Hutchings - regrets 
Joe Kusnir 
Shannon Landry 
Tania Lee 
Brian Lucas 
 
Ex-Officio Members 
Spencer Dickson 

Dean Pearson 
Summer Sands-Macbeth 
Jim Wodham  
Carly Vandenende 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
   
   

   

   

   

 



  

Open Board Meeting – April 8, 2021 - 4:30 p.m.  Microsoft Teams 

Membership             Resource 

                                           

1.  CALL TO ORDER 
Janice McMichael-Dennis called the meeting to order. 
 

2.  INDIGENOUS TRUTH AND RECONCILATION LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
Judy Morris indicated that at Lambton College, we are always very grateful for the land we 
live on, for the land we teach and work on, for the land we play and compete on and for 
the land we learn on. It is with this gratitude in our hearts that before important events 
such as this one today that we are always very proud to acknowledge that:  Lambton 
College is located on the beautiful homeland that is the traditional territory of the Ojibwe, 
Potawatomi and Odawa First Nations. These three individual Nations make up the 
traditional Three Fires Confederacy. We acknowledge the grace and the welcome they 
have offered to all students, staff and guests at Lambton College. 
 

3.  CONSENT AGENDA  
1.  April 8, 2021 Agenda 
2.  February 25, 2021 Open Minutes 
3.  Report February 25, 2021 In-Camera   
     Meeting 
4.  Chair’s Report 
5.  Open Meeting Governance Report  
6.  Conflict of Interest Declaration 
IT IS MOVED BY:                 Dave Mitton 
SECONDED BY:                  Carly Vandenende 
THAT:    the Board of Governors approves the minutes of the Open 
   Meeting of February 25, 2021 and the entire contents of the 
   consent agenda. 2021-14. Carried. 
 

J. McMichael-Dennis, Chair Dave Mitton  Mehdi Sheikhzadeh 
Barry Hogan, 1st Vice-Chair  Judith Morris Spencer Dickson 
Susan Ferguson, 2nd Vice-Chair  Dave Park  Rob Kardas 
Michael Caverly - regrets 
Emily Hutchings 
Shannon Landry  
Tania Lee 
Brian Lucas 

Dean Pearson 
Summer Sands- Macbeth 
Jim Wodham - regrets 
Carly Vandenende 
Joe Kusnir 

Marc Guilbeault 
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4.  STUDENT IMPACT STORY  
Mehdi Sheikhzadeh introduced Shivam Mahajan, Education Technology and Instructional 
Design Program and Co-op Student Lambton College Design House: eCreators. Shivam 
overviewed his experience as a student and working in the Design House. He indicated  
he has had a good overall experience with dedicated Instructors; however, he has missed 
the face to face activities because of the pandemic. He recognized that the faculty have 
tried hard to create virtual interaction between classmates and connection for all.  He is 
hoping to work in the area of online learning development when he graduates.  
 
The Chair on behalf of the Board thanked Shivam for sharing his experiences and wished 
him success in his future endeavours.  
 

5.  PROJECT MOMENTUM: POST-COVID STRATEGY 
Judy Morris overviewed the genesis and core drivers that underpin Project Momentum: 
Post-COVID Strategy. The Strategy is an operating plan developed to leverage the 
opportunities of a post-pandemic world. The core drivers are Humanization and 
Inclusivity, Information and Communications Technology, Digitization, Automation, and 
Data. The first two drivers should be pervasive in everything we do and the second four 
drivers are pervasive in almost all aspects of our world today. Overall the main areas are: 
Education 4.0, Flexible Work for Our People, Reskilling/Upskilling Our People, Equity, 
Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (EDI), and Community, Sustainability and Inclusivity.    
 
Rob Kardas described the areas within Education 4.0 that include: development, delivery, 
credentials, and student experience. Flexibility is inherent in all areas; however, it is 
hoped Education 4.0 will provide a solid direction for academic delivery and student 
success.  One key aspect is Hy-Flex teaching and learning. Hy-Flex combines the best of 
face to face pedagogy and online pedagogy. Faculty and staff are being asked work with 
the plan and determine what will work best for their program and or department, as not all 
aspects will be implemented in every program. 
 
In the area of ‘Our People’,  Spencer Dickson indicated the focus is on reskilling and 
upskilling, flexible workforce, and equity, diversity, and inclusion. Reskilling and upskilling 
will be critical to ensure all are ready and have opportunities to move and change as the 
College pivots.  Flexible workforce plans are underway with consideration of the 
College’s mission while allowing flexibility and ensuring an appropriately staffed campus.  
The work in the area of EDI will leverage existing initiatives to create a guiding 
framework.  
 
In the area of Community, Sustainability, and Inclusivity,  Mehdi Sheikhzadeh indicated 
the four main areas of focus: training, innovation, environment, social. As well, it is hoped 
the College will go beyond research to commercialization support and support to 
accelerate digital transformation. One key initiative within the Strategy is the Sarnia Civic 
Lab, which is a partnership allowing the College to support and work with the City of 



     

                                                                             

Page 3 of 4 

 

Sarnia on research projects and project development. There will be a critical link between 
research and economic development for the Sarnia-Lambton region.  

6.  2021-2022 BUSINESS PLAN AND BUDGET 
Judy Morris indicated the proposed business plan and budget has been developed to grow 
the best of the College and support the aspects of Project Momentum: Post-COVID 
Strategy.  Julie Carlton presented the 2021-22 Business Plan and Budget detailing the 
revenue and expenditures of the College’s projected closing accumulated surplus of over 
$8M. International enrolment is expected to re-bound and grow in 2021-22 and domestic 
enrolment is anticipated to remain static or grow by 1%. Judy Morris indicated that the 
College planned staffing and capital spending is being driven by Project Momentum 
strategies.  
 
The Campus Renewal Projects include the previously approved campus shop/west 
entrance and landscape/roadways projects as well as a new Immersion Centre. The 
Immersion Centre will be a place where media converges with augmented reality/virtual 
reality (AR/VR), other digital strategies and a 360-degree screen experience. The focus is 
teaching and learning; however, it will have other uses.  
 
The Board discussed if the City of Sarnia has the capacity for the planned increase of  
international students projected in the budget as well as immigration in Sarnia-Lambton.   
 
IT WAS MOVED BY:         Tania Lee 
SECONDED BY:                Dean Pearson  
THAT:                               the Board of Governors approves the Finance and Property  
    Committee recommendation to approve the Business Plan and 
    Budget for 2021-22. 2021-15. Carried. 
 

7.  CONVOCATION AND HONOURARY DIPLOMA   
Spencer Dickson indicated that although the in-person convocation ceremony will not take 
place the presentation to Mr. Mansbridge will be incorporated into a virtual celebration.   
IT WAS MOVED BY:          Summer Sands Macbeth 
SECONDED BY:                Carly Vandenende 
THAT:    the Board of Governors approves the conferring of a Lambton 
    College Liberal Studies Ontario College Diploma to Peter  
    Mansbridge. 2021-16. CARRIED. 
 

8.   PRESIDENT’S REPORT  
The President presented her report as written, highlighting key items and updating the 
COVID report. She noted the province is in lock-down with a stay at home order; 
however, this is not affecting the existing delivery of in-person socially distanced labs.  
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9.  OTHER BUSINESS 
1. Governor Reports – Program Advisory Committee (PAC) Meetings Attended. 

The Governors were invited to provide updates on Program Advisory Committee 
meetings attended. Dave Mitton indicated he attended the Construction 
Carpentry/ Renovation PAC and noted the efforts and resilience that has taken 
place to pivot such a hands-on program. Shannon Landry indicated she 
attended the BScN where the main focus was the preparation for the 4- year 
degree application. This is a large amount of work; however, very much worth it 
as keeping our students in our community is critical.  Susan Ferguson attended 
the Recreation Therapy PAC where it was recognized how hard the City has 
been hit because of COVID, with the loss of jobs and placements at this time. 
There is work taking place to come up plans to address these issues with the 
community and the College working together. Brian Lucas attended the CPET 
program PAC and reported the Work Integrated Learning projects seem to be 
going well. Summer Sands Macbeth attended the eLearning Training and 
Design PAC. She reported it was excellent to hear the students’ excitement and 
engagement.  
 

10. ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting adjourned at 6:11 p.m. 

  

MINUTES APPROVED BY:      

                                                           J. McMichael-Dennis, Chair 

AT MEETING OF:   June 3, 2021 Lianne Birkbeck, Recording Secretary 



 
 
Report From: Janice McMichael-Dennis, Chair                                        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Subject:  Report on Items from In-Camera Session April 8, 2021 
  
 
 

Signature on file 

Janice McMichael-
Dennis 

 
 

 
 
Items  
 

1) The In-Camera meeting minutes of February 25, 2021 were approved. 
2) Business Arising from the Board Self-Evaluation was discussed. 
3) The Board received an update regarding the International Education Public 

Private Partnerships from the President for information. 
4) The Vice-President Administration and Finance provided a Property Report for 

information. 

     For Action   X  Board of Governors 

 

X  For Information   X  Open Meeting 

 

X  Meeting Date June 3, 2021    

 
 X  Agenda Item No.   3  
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Report From: J. McMichael-Dennis, Chair 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Subject:  Chair’s Report   

 
1. Governors’ Review Committee: As a member of the Council’s Governors’ 

Review Committee the Chair attended a meeting to discuss the CAAT Pension 
Committee appointments. 
 

2. Committee Meeting: The Chair attended and chaired the Executive of the 
Board meeting and attended the Finance and Property Committee meeting.  

     For Action   X Board of Governors 

 

 X  For Information   X Open Meeting 

 
 X  Meeting Date   June 3, 2021    
 
 X  Agenda Item No.  3                             
 
      
 
 



 
 
 

   Financial Statements of 

 

THE LAMBTON COLLEGE OF APPLIED 
ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY 

 

March 31, 2021 
 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 DRAFT



 

 

 

Tel:  519-336-9900 
Fax:  519-332-4828 
www.bdo.ca 

BDO Canada LLP 
250 Christina Street North 
Sarnia, ON  N7T 7J7  Canada 
 
 

 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Board of Governors of The Lambton College of Applied Arts and Technology 
 
Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of The Lambton College of Applied Arts and 
Technology (the College), which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 
2021, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the College as at March 31, 2021, and its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the College in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the College’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the College or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the College’s financial 
reporting process. 

DRAFT



 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the College’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the College’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the College to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Sarnia, Ontario  
June 3, 2021 (upon approval from the Board of Governors) 
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THE LAMBTON COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS
AND TECHNOLOGY
Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2021

2021                  2020                  

ASSETS

CURRENT
Cash 154,862,808$    161,778,256$    
Short-term investments (Note 4) 10,139,647        -                     
Grants receivable 1,862,417          5,621,666           
Accounts receivable 15,518,572        11,575,877         
Current portion of long-term receivable (Note 5) 342,853             275,926              
Inventories 322,018             585,512              
Prepaid expenses 498,571             469,343              

183,546,886      180,306,580      

LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE (Note 5) 5,472,313          5,897,189           
LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS (Note 4) 39,752,335        -                     
CAPITAL (Note 6) 114,874,618      114,289,647      

343,646,152$    300,493,416$    

LIABILITIES

CURRENT
Accounts payable and accrued charges 98,763,238$      85,880,718$      
Accrued payroll, vacation pay and employee deductions 4,614,589          3,274,170           
Deferred revenue 54,485,019        33,305,697         
Funds held in trust (Note 7) 2,951,773          2,264,246           
Current portion of long-term obligations (Note 8) 648,420             614,911              

161,463,039      125,339,742      

LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Note 8) 6,519,226          7,167,646           

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS AND 
COMPENSATED ABSENCES (Note 9) 1,888,000          1,838,000           

DEFERRED CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS (Note 10) 63,592,568        64,170,876         

233,462,833      198,516,264      

NET ASSETS

Unrestricted
Operating 12,533,441        11,064,350         
Post-employment benefits and compensated absences (1,888,000)         (1,838,000)         
Vacation pay (2,625,206)         (2,198,634)         

8,020,235          7,027,716           

Invested in capital assets (Note 11) 49,929,570        48,509,329         
Internally restricted (Note 12) 47,639,929        42,057,229         
Externally restricted (Note 13) 1,282,677          805,822              
Endowment funds (Note 14) 3,576,478          3,577,056           

102,428,654      94,949,436         

Accumulated remeasurement losses (265,570)            -                          

110,183,319      101,977,152      
343,646,152$    300,493,416$    

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS

_______________________________  Chair   ________________________________ President Page 1 of 22    
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THE LAMBTON COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS
AND TECHNOLOGY
Statement of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2021

2021               2020               

REVENUE - Schedule 1
 Grants and reimbursements 32,655,114$    31,968,276$    

Student tuition 62,415,795      62,219,854      
Ancillary operations 1,624,222        4,391,234        
Other income 2,741,768        5,229,587        
Amortization of deferred capital contributions 4,981,904        5,219,492        

104,418,803    109,028,443    

EXPENDITURE
Salaries and benefits 52,570,804      52,773,475      
Academic 23,756,107      20,134,667      
Student services 1,415,849        1,584,594        
Administrative 3,941,297        3,057,068        
Physical resources 3,662,205        4,155,906        
Ancillary operations 2,057,142        3,388,262        
Depreciation of capital assets 9,019,939        8,687,414        

96,423,343      93,781,386      

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURE 7,995,460$      15,247,057$    

Page 2 of 22
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THE LAMBTON COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS
AND TECHNOLOGY
Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended March 31, 2021

Invested in
Capital Internally Externally Endowment 2021 2020

Unrestricted Assets Restricted Restricted Funds Total Total
(Note 10) (Note 11) (Note 12) (Note 13)

BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 7,027,716$          48,509,329$    42,057,229$    805,822$        3,577,056$     101,977,152$    86,483,271$   

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURE
  (EXPENDITURE OVER REVENUE) 12,033,495          (4,038,035)      -                   -                  -                  7,995,460          15,247,057     

INVESTED IN CAPITAL  ASSETS (5,458,276)          5,458,276        -                   -                  -                  -                     -                  

APPROPRIATION (5,582,700)          -                   5,582,700        -                  -                  -                     -                  

CHANGE IN  EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED 
  NET ASSETS -                       -                   -                   476,855          -                  476,855             224,929          

CHANGE IN ENDOWMENT FUNDS -                       -                   -                   -                  (578)                (578)                   21,895            
BALANCE, END OF YEAR 8,020,235$          49,929,570$    47,639,929$    1,282,677$     3,576,478$     110,448,889$    101,977,152$ 

Page 3 of 22
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THE LAMBTON COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS
AND TECHNOLOGY
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2021

2021                  2020                

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Excess of revenue over expenditure 7,995,460$        15,247,057$    
Items not involving cash

Depreciation of capital assets 9,019,939          8,687,414        
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (4,981,904)         (5,219,492)       
Post-employment benefits and compensated absences 50,000               (27,000)            

12,083,495        18,687,979      

Changes in non-cash operating working
capital items (Note 16) 36,140,608        28,920,665      

48,224,103        47,608,644      

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of long-term obligations (614,911)            (584,276)          

CAPITAL
Deferred capital contributions 4,403,596          5,049,805        
Acquisition of capital assets (9,604,910)         (15,684,087)     

(5,201,314)         (10,634,282)     

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Collection of long-term receivable 357,949             269,523           
Purchase of investments (50,157,552)       
Net cash provided to externally restricted funds 476,855             224,929           
Net cash provided from (to) endowment funds (578)                   21,895             

(49,323,326)       516,347           

NET CHANGE IN CASH POSITION (6,915,448)         36,906,433      

Cash position, beginning of year 161,778,256      124,871,823    
CASH POSITION, END OF YEAR 154,862,808$    161,778,256$  

Page 4 of 22
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THE LAMBTON COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS
AND TECHNOLOGY
Statement of Remeasurement Losses
For the year ended March 31, 2021

2021

BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR -$                   

UNREALIZED LOSSES ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
  INVESTMENTS (265,570)            

BALANCE, END OF YEAR (265,570)$          

Page 5 of 22
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THE LAMBTON COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended March 31, 2021 
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1. STATUTES OF INCORPORATION AND NATURE OF ACTIVITIES 

The Lambton College of Applied Arts and Technology (“Lambton College”) was incorporated as a 
college in 1966 under the laws of the Province of Ontario.  Lambton College is dedicated to 
providing high quality education and training as well as contributing to the social and economic 
well being of the community. 

Lambton College is exempt from income taxes under Section 149 of the Income Tax Act. 

Lambton College has an economic interest in The Lambton College Foundation.  The Foundation 
was incorporated without share capital on March 29, 1994 under the Ontario Corporations Act.  
The operations of the Foundation are not included in these financial statements.  The objectives of 
the Foundation are to promote interest in and awareness of Lambton College and to establish and 
administer funds for the support of students, research and development in the areas of curriculum 
and instruction, facilities and equipment and new initiatives. 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The financial statements of Lambton College have been prepared in accordance with Canadian 
public sector accounting standards for government not-for-profit organizations, including the 4200 
series of standards, as issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB for Government 
NPOs”) and include the following significant accounting policies: 

Revenue recognition 

Lambton College follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions, which includes 
donations and government grants.  Deferred contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in 
which the related expenses are recognized.  Other contributions are recognized as revenue when 
received or receivable. 

Donations of assets are recorded at fair value when a fair value can be reasonably estimated.  
Endowment contributions are recognized as direct increases in net assets. 

Revenue from student fees and from the sale of services and products is recognized at the time the 
products are delivered or the services provided. 

Investment income earned on endowment funds is recognized as a direct increase in net assets 
when the related expense occurs. Restricted investment income is recognized as revenue in the year 
in which the related expenses are recognized. Unrestricted investment income is recognized as 
revenue when earned. 

Accrual accounting 

The accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenues as they become available and measurable; 
expenditures are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or 
services and the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 
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THE LAMBTON COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS  
AND TECHNOLOGY 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended March 31, 2021 
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 

 Vacation pay 

 Lambton College recognizes vacation pay as an expense on the accrual basis. 

Retirement and post-employment benefits and compensated absences 
 

Lambton College provides defined retirement and post-employment benefits and compensated 
absences to certain employee groups.  These benefits include pension, health and dental, vesting sick 
leave and non-vesting sick leave.  Lambton College has adopted the following policies with respect 
to accounting for these employee benefits: 

The costs of post-employment future benefits are actuarially determined using management’s best 
estimate of health care costs, disability recovery rates and discount rates.  Adjustments to these 
costs arising from changes in estimates and experience gains and losses are amortized to income 
over the estimated average remaining service life of the employee groups on a straight line basis. 

The costs of the multi-employer defined benefit pension are the employer’s contributions due to 
the plan in the period. 

The costs of vesting and non-vesting sick leave benefits are actuarially determined using 
management’s best estimate of salary escalation, employees’ use of entitlement and discount 
rates.  Adjustments to these costs arising from changes in actuarial assumption and/or experience 
are recognized over the estimated average remaining service life of the employees. 

The discount rate used in the determination of the above-mentioned liabilities is equal to Lambton 
College’s internal rate of borrowing. 

Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Cost is determined on the first-
in-first-out basis. 

Capital assets 

Capital assets are recorded at cost with the exception of donated assets which are recorded at their 
fair market value at the date of acquisition.  Construction in progress is not amortized until the asset 
is placed into service.  When a capital asset no longer contributes to Lambton College’s ability to 
provide services, its carrying value is written down to its residual value.  Depreciation is provided on 
a straight-line basis over the following periods: 

 Buildings 30 - 40 years 
 Site improvements 10 years 
 Leasehold improvements 5 years 
 Major equipment 10 years 
 Equipment and vehicles 5 years 
 Computer hardware 3 years 
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 

Deferred capital contributions 

Contributions received to fund capital asset acquisitions are deferred and amortized over the same 
term and on the same basis as the related capital asset. 

Restricted funds 

Restricted funds account for monies received for a specific purpose.  The funds follow the restricted 
fund method of accounting for contributions. 

Internally restricted funds (appropriations) represent allocations primarily relating to capital projects 
intended to be completed in future years. 

Externally restricted funds represent contributions which are fully expendable for the stated purposes 
as defined by the fund providers. 

Endowment funds 

The endowment funds receive all revenue designated by the benefactors to be held in trust to 
generate income.  Funds received from the Province of Ontario and private donors are held in 
Lambton College’s bank account. Interest earned from these funds is to be used to fund projects 
meeting the guidelines provided by the funding body. As the funds are held in a high interest bank 
account, the funds are not subject to market rate fluctuations.  

Management estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with PSAB for Government NPOs requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and 
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, 
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenditure during the period.  Actual results could differ 
from these estimates.  Areas of key estimation include determination of fair value for deferred 
revenues, allowance for doubtful accounts, amortization of capital assets, amortization of deferred 
capital contributions, vacation pay and actuarial estimation of post-employment benefits and 
compensated absences liabilities. 

3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Lambton College classifies its financial instruments as either fair value or amortized cost.  Lambton 
College’s accounting policy for each category is as follows: 

Fair value 

This category includes derivatives and equity instruments quoted in an active market.  Lambton 
College has designated that cash is classified as fair value. 
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3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS- continued 

Fair value – cont’d 

Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial instruments are recognized in 
the statement of remeasurement gains and losses.  Upon settlement, the cumulative gain or loss is 
reclassified from the statement of remeasurement gains and losses and recognized in the statement of 
operations. Interest and dividends attributable to financial instruments are reported in the statement 
of operations. 

For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is used to 
determine interest revenue or expense.  

All financial assets are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets are impaired, 
impairment losses are recorded in the statement of operations.  

Transaction costs are added to the carrying value for financial instruments measured using cost or 
amortized cost.  Transaction costs are expensed for financial instruments measured at fair value. 

Amortized cost 

This category includes all accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued charges, accrued 
payroll, vacation pay and employee deductions, funds held in trust, and long-term obligations.  They 
are initially recognized at cost and subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest 
rate method, less any impairment losses on financial assets. 

Transaction costs related to financial instruments in the amortized cost category are added to the 
carrying value of the instrument. 

Write-downs on financial assets in the amortized cost category are recognized when the amount of a 
loss is known with sufficient precision, and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.  Financial 
assets are then written down to net recoverable value with the write-down being recognized in the 
statement of operations. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to Lambton College if a debtor fails to make payments of 
interest and principal when due.  Lambton College is exposed to this risk relating to its cash and 
accounts receivable.  Lambton College holds its cash accounts with federally regulated chartered 
banks who are insured by the Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation.  In the event of default, 
Lambton College’s cash accounts are insured up to $100,000 (2020 - $100,000). 

Credit risk of student receivables is mitigated by financial approval processes before a student is 
enrolled. 
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3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 

Lambton College measures its exposure to credit risk based on how long the amounts have been 
outstanding.  An impairment allowance is set up based on Lambton College’s historical experience 
regarding collections.  The amounts outstanding at year end were as follows: 

          Past Due   
                    Total                   Current 60 days    61–90 days 91+days 

Government receivables $ 2,617,558 $ 2,617,558 $ -     $ -     $ -     
Student receivables  13,366,258  12,545,203  44,751  120,928  655,376 
Other receivables  1,638,042   1,146,206  51,543  46,592  393,701 
Gross receivables  17,621,858  16,308,967  96,294  167,520 1,049,077 
Less: impairment allowance  (240,869)  -      -      -      (240,869) 
Net receivables $ 17,380,989 $ 16,308,967 $ 96,294 $ 167,520 $ 808,208 

Student receivables are impacted by increased enrolment through existing licensing agreements.  

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
as a result of market factors.  Market factors include three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate 
risk and other price risk. 

There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risk or policies, 
procedures and methods used to measure the risk. 

Currency risk 

Currency risk relates to Lambton College operating in foreign currencies and converting non-
Canadian earnings at different points in time at different foreign exchange rates when adverse 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates occur.  Lambton College does not have any material 
transactions or financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies. 

Interest rate risk  

Interest rate risk is the potential for financial loss caused by fluctuations in fair value or future cash 
flows of financial instruments because of changes in market interest rates. 

Lambton College is exposed to this risk through its interest-bearing investments and long-term 
obligations. 

At March 31, 2021, a 1% fluctuation in interest rates would have an estimated impact on interest 
expense related to Lambton College’s bank loans of $70,000. 
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3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 

Other price risk 

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or 
currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial 
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.  
The organization is exposed to other price risk through the fair value of financial instruments and 
how they are affected by changes in the market price of equity instruments. 

The organization manages its other price risk by limiting their investment in instruments that have 
fluctuating fair values. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that Lambton College will not be able to meet all cash outflow obligations 
as they come due.  Lambton College mitigates this risk by monitoring cash activities and expected 
outflows through extensive budgeting.  

There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risks or policies, 
procedures and methods used to measure these risks. 

4. INVESTMENTS 

Investments consist of cash and equivalents of $139,647, Guaranteed Investment Certificates of 
$20,000,000, equity instruments in public companies of $2,443,265, and bonds $27,309,070. 
Investments include $4,054,145 of investments externally restricted for endowment purposes (see 
Note 14).  

Maturity profile of bonds held is as follows: 

                          2021      
            Within           2 to 5            6 to 10           Over 10 
             1 year             years              years               years            Total  

Carrying value                           $ -             $2,593,882    $24,442,678  $ 272,510    $ 27,309,070 

Percentage of Total 0%    9.50% 89.50% 1%            100%  DRAFT
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4. INVESTMENTS – continued 

The following table provides an analysis of investments that are measured subsequent to initial 
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is 
observable: 

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) 

Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market date 
(unobservable inputs) 

                                            2021                
                 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3   Total  

Portfolio cash   $ 139,647 $ -     $ -     $ 139,647 
Investments   22,443,265  27,309,070    -      49,752,335 

   $ 22,582,912 $ 27,309,070 $ -     $ 49,891,982 
Current portion  10,139,647 

    $ 39,752,335 

There were no investments classified as Level 3 for the year ended March 31, 2021. 

5. LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE  

  2021  2020 
 
Long-term receivable, 2.35%, due in equal, consecutive, blended, 
 monthly instalments of $34,837, due in Aug 2043 $   5,815,166     $ 6,173,115 

 

Current portion 342,853 275,926 

  $ 5,472,313 $ 5,897,189 

Principal amounts receivable in the next five years are as follows: 

2022 $ 342,853 
2023 $ 292,573 
2024 $ 299,523 
2025 $ 306,638 
2026 $ 313,922 

By way of agreement, the Students Association of Lambton College (SAC) agreed to fund $6.6 
million of the capital cost of the Athletics & Fitness Complex through an increase in the compulsory 
student building fee over a term not to exceed 30 years. The interest rate charged on the balance 
receivable is equal to the College’s bank deposit rate or 4%, whichever is less. 
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6. CAPITAL 

      2021    2020  
      Accumulated Net Book   Net Book 
    Cost Depreciation Value   Value  
 

Land  $ 4,099,658 $ -     $ 4,099,658 $ 4,099,658 
Buildings   123,039,657  40,559,568  88,480,089  87,062,129 
Site and leasehold improvements  16,871,518  5,320,435  11,551,083  10,832,690 
Major equipment, 
   equipment and vehicles    23,300,896  14,355,949  8,944,947  10,260,351 
Computer hardware   2,428,612  1,746,546  682,066  969,109 
Construction in progress   1,116,775  -      1,116,775  1,065,710 

   $176,857,116 $ 61,982,498 $114,874,618 $114,289,647 

7. FUNDS HELD IN TRUST 

 The funds held in trust are unsecured, due on demand, bear interest at the applicable bank rate plus 
0.03% with an average rate in 2021 of 1.00% (2020 – average rate of 2.32%) and consist of the 
following: 

  2021  2020 
 
Due to The Lambton College Foundation $ 1,395,447 $ 763,984 
Due to The Students Association of Lambton College  1,556,326  1,500,262 

   $ 2,951,773 $ 2,264,246 

The Lambton College Foundation was created for the purpose of raising funds for capital and other 
purposes to assist the College to provide outstanding applied education.  The Lambton College 
Foundation has transferred to Lambton College gift-in-kind equipment at fair market value of 
$155,716 and cash of $2,085,961 during the year (2020 – equipment of $297,375 and cash of 
$1,946,477). All transactions are recorded at fair value. The College provides office space, computer 
and other equipment, services of certain College departments and accounting and financial systems 
processes.  The Foundation is not controlled and therefore is not consolidated in these financial 
statements. 

During the year the student fees and building fees are collected on behalf of the Students Association 
and the balance of those fees are held by the College and payable to the Students Association. 
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8. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 

  2021  2020 
 
Demand loan, 6.20%, due in equal, consecutive, blended, 

 monthly instalments of $61,283, secured by land and building $ 4,193,274 $ 4,620,293 
Demand loan, prime, due in equal, consecutive, monthly 
 instalments of $2,414 plus interest 219,699 248,710 
Demand loan, prime, due in equal, consecutive, monthly 
 instalments of $1,022 plus interest 150,181 162,402 
Term loan, 5.22%, due in equal, consecutive, blended, 
 monthly instalments of $23,909, due in July 2033 2,604,491 2,751,152 

  7,167,646 7,782,557 
 

Current portion 648,420 614,911 

  $ 6,519,226 $ 7,167,646 

Principal amounts due in the next five years are as follows: 

2022 $ 648,420 
2023 $ 983,891 
2024 $ 721,439 
2025 $ 761,187 
2026 $ 809,262 

The long-term obligation is secured by land and building with a net book value of $9,208,343 (2020 
- $9,634,063). 

Lambton College has an operating line of credit with its bankers which is due on demand and bears 
interest at prime less 0.75%.  As at March 31, 2021 the balance was $NIL. 

Interest expense incurred on long-term obligations has been recorded as an expense in Academic and 
Ancillary operations expenditure.  These payments amounted to $465,837 (2020 - $498,321). DRAFT
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9. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS AND COMPENSATED ABSENCES LIABILITY 

The following tables outline the components of Lambton College’s post-employment benefits and 
compensated absences liabilities and related expenditure. 

                                            2021                
   Post-employment Non-vesting Vesting    Total 
    benefits sick leave sick leave   liability  

Accrued employee future 
     benefits obligations  $ 526,000 $ 1,452,000 $ 25,000 $ 2,003,000 
 

Value of plan assets   (115,000)  -      -      (115,000) 

   $ 411,000 $ 1,452,000 $ 25,000 $ 1,888,000 

                                            2020               
   Post-employment Non-vesting Vesting    Total 
        benefits sick leave sick leave   liability  

Accrued employee future 
   benefits obligations  $ 518,000 $ 1,396,000 $ 32,000 $ 1,946,000 
 

Value of plan assets   (108,000)  -      -      (108,000) 

   $ 410,000 $ 1,396,000 $ 32,000 $ 1,838,000 

                                            2021               
   Post-employment Non-vesting Vesting    Total 
        benefits sick leave sick leave   expenditure 

Current year 
     benefits cost  $ 2,000   $ 56,000 $ (7,000) $ 51,000 
 

Interest on accrued 
     benefits obligation   1,000  -      -      1,000 
 

Amortized actuarial losses  (2,000)  -      -      (2,000) 

   $ 1,000 $ 56,000 $ (7,000) $ 50,000 

                                            2020              
   Post-employment Non-vesting Vesting    Total 
        benefits sick leave sick leave   expenditure 

Current year 
     benefits cost  $ -     $ (10,000) $ (16,000) $ (26,000) 
 

Interest on accrued 
     benefits obligation   1,000  -      -      1,000 
 

Amortized actuarial losses  (3,000)  -      -      (3,000) 

   $ (2,000) $ (10,000) $ (16,000) $ (28,000) 
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9. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS AND COMPENSATED ABSENCES LIABILITY -    
      continued 

These amounts exclude pension contributions to the Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology 
Pension Plan, a multi-employer plan, described below. 

Retirement benefits 

CAAT Pension Plan 

All full-time employees of Lambton College, and any part-time employees who opt to participate, 
are members of the Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Pension Plan (the “Plan”), a multi-
employer jointly-sponsored defined benefit plan for public colleges in Ontario and other employers 
across Canada. The College makes contributions to the Plan equal to those of employees. 
Contribution rates are set by the Plan’s governors to ensure the long-term viability of the Plan. Since 
the Plan is a multi-employer plan, the College’s contributions are accounted for as if the Plan were a 
defined contribution plan with the College’s contributions being expensed in the period they come 
due.   

Any pension surplus or deficit is a joint responsibility of the members and employers and may affect 
future contribution rates related to full-time members.  Lambton College does not recognize any 
share of the Plan’s pension surplus or deficit as insufficient information is available to identify 
Lambton College’s share of the underlying pension assets and liabilities.  The most recent actuarial 
valuation filed with pension regulators as at January 1, 2021 indicated an actuarial surplus on a 
going concern basis of $3.3 billion.  Lambton College made contributions to the Plan and its 
associated retirement compensation arrangement of $4,317,158 (2020 - $4,201,194), which has been 
included in the statement of revenue and expenditure. 

Post-employment benefits 

Lambton College extends post-employment life insurance, health and dental benefits to certain 
employee groups subsequent to their retirement.  Lambton College recognizes these benefits as they 
are earned during the employees’ tenure of service.  The related benefit liability was determined by 
an actuarial valuation study commissioned by the College Employer Council. 

The major actuarial assumptions employed for the valuations are as follows: 

a) Discount rate 

The present value as at March 31, 2021 of the future benefits was determined using a discount 
rate of 1.7% (2020 – 1.6%). 

b) Drug costs 

Drug costs were assumed to increase at 8.0% per annum in 2018 and decrease proportionately 
thereafter to an ultimate rate of 4% in 2040. 
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9. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS AND COMPENSATED ABSENCES LIABILITY -    
      continued 

c) Hospital and other medical 

Hospital and other medical costs were assumed to increase at 4% per annum (2020 – 4%). 

Medical premium increases were assumed to increase at 6.8% per annum until 2018 and 
decrease proportionately thereafter to an ultimate rate of 4% in 2040.  

d) Dental costs 

Dental costs were assumed to increase at 4% per annum in 2021 (2020 - 4%). 

Compensated absences 

Vesting sick leave 

Lambton College has provided for vesting sick leave benefits during the year.  Eligible employees, 
after 10 years of service, are entitled to receive 50% of their accumulated sick leave credit on 
termination or retirement to a maximum of 6 months’ salary.  The program to accumulate sick leave 
credits ceased for employees hired after March 31, 1991.  The related benefit liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation study commissioned by the College Employer Council. 

Non-vesting sick leave 

Lambton College allocates to certain employee groups a specified number of days each year for use 
as paid absences in the event of illness or injury.  These days do not vest and are available 
immediately.  Employees are permitted to accumulate their unused allocation each year, up to the 
allowable maximum provided in their employment agreements.  Accumulated days may be used in 
future years to the extent that the employees’ illness or injury exceeds the current year’s allocation of 
days.  Sick days are paid out at the salary in effect at the time of usage.  The related benefit liability 
was determined by an actuarial valuation study commissioned by the College Employer Council. 

The assumptions used in the valuation of vesting and non-vesting sick leave are actuarial best 
estimates of expected rates of: 

  2021  2020 
 

Wage and salary escalation       0.5 – 2.0%  0.5 – 2.0% 
Discount rate              1.7%  1.6% 

The probability that an employee will use more sick days than the annual accrual and the excess 
number of sick days used are within ranges of 0% to 26.2% and 0 to 51 days respectively for age 
groups ranging from 20 and under to 65 and over in bands of 5 years. 
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10. DEFERRED CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

Deferred capital contributions represent the unamortized amount of donations and grants received to 
fund the purchase of capital assets.  The amortization of the deferred capital contributions is 
recorded as revenue in the statement of revenue and expenditure.  Changes in the deferred capital 
contributions balance are as follows: 

  2021  2020 
 
Balance, beginning of year $ 64,170,876 $ 64,340,563 
Contributions received or receivable for capital purposes  4,403,596  5,049,805 
Amortization of deferred capital contributions  (4,981,904)  (5,219,492) 

Balance, end of year $ 63,592,568 $ 64,170,876 

11. INVESTED IN CAPITAL ASSETS 

a. Change in net assets invested in capital assets is calculated as follows: 

 Excess of expenditure over revenue 
 Amortization of deferred contributions 

related to capital assets $ 4,981,904 $ 5,219,492 
  Depreciation of capital assets  (9,019,939)  (8,687,414) 

  $ (4,038,035) $ (3,467,922) 

b. Net investment in capital assets: 
 

 Capital assets acquired  $ 9,652,583 $ 15,684,087 
 Capital assets disposition  (47,674)  -      
 Repayment of long-term obligations related to capital assets  614,911  584,276 
 Long-term receivable payment received   (357,949)  (269,522) 
 Amounts funded by deferred capital contributions  (4,958,836)  (5,049,806) 
 Correction of deferred capital contribution  555,240  -     

  $ 5,458,275 $ 10,949,035 

c. Net assets invested in capital assets are represented by: 
  

Capital assets, net book value $114,874,618 $114,289,647 

 Less: 
 Deferred capital contributions   63,592,568  64,170,876 
 Long-term receivable    (5,815,166)  (6,173,115)  
 Long-term obligations related to capital assets  7,167,646  7,782,557 
   64,945,048  65,780,318 

Net assets invested in capital assets $ 49,929,570 $ 48,509,329 
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12. NET ASSETS INTERNALLY RESTRICTED 

Internally restricted net assets are funds committed for specific purposes which represent allocations 
primarily related to major capital additions and other campus renewal projects intended to be 
completed in future years. 

     Balance,  Transfers,   Balance, 
     Beginning  Adjustments,  End 
     of Year    Additions  Disbursements  of Year  

 
Appropriations  $ 42,057,229 $ 11,569,687 $ 5,986,987 $ 47,639,929 

13. NET ASSETS EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED 

Externally restricted net assets are funds committed for specific purposes as follows: 

     Balance,  Transfers,   Balance, 
     Beginning  Adjustments,  End 
     of Year    Additions  Disbursements  of Year  

 
Bursaries and awards  $  312,877 $ 922,887 $ (501,983) $ 733,781 
Financial assistance fund    (41,639)  950,000  (774,147)  134,214 
Employment Stability Fund   73,608  821  -      74,429 
Conferences and external projects  460,976  826,039  (946,762)  340,253 

  $  805,822 $ 2,699,747 $ (2,222,892) $ 1,282,677 

14. NET ASSETS ENDOWMENT FUNDS 

Endowment funds are restricted donations received by the College where the endowment principal is 
required to be maintained. The investment income generated from these endowments must be used 
in accordance with various purposes established by donors. The College ensures, as part of its 
fiduciary responsibilities, that all funds received and transferred to the Foundation with a restricted 
purpose are expended for the purpose for which they were provided. 

The endowment funds are funds committed for specific purposes as follows: 

     Balance,  Transfers,   Balance, 
     Beginning  Adjustments,  End 
     of Year    Additions  Disbursements  of Year  

 
OSOTF and OTSS  $  3,480,863 $ 41,095 $ (41,442) $ 3,480,516 
Other scholarships and bursaries   96,193  913  (1,144)  95,962 

  $  3,577,056  $ 42,008 $ (42,586) $ 3,576,478 
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14. NET ASSETS ENDOWMENT FUNDS - continued 

Endowment funds include grants provided by the Government of Ontario from the Ontario Student 
Opportunity Trust Fund (OSOTF) and the Ontario Trust for Student Success (OTSS).  Under these 
programs, the government matched funds raised by Lambton College to be maintained as 
endowment principal.  The purpose of these programs is to assist academically qualified individuals 
who, for financial reasons, would not otherwise be able to attend a post-secondary institution. 

        OSOTF OSOTF II       OTSS    Other     Total 
 
Changes in Endowment Fund Balances 
 
Fund balances, beginning of year $ 1,071,656 $ 139,544 $ 1,899,768 $ 57,500 $ 3,168,468 
Cash donations  -      -    4,000    -      4,000 
Fund balances, end of year  1,071,656  139,544  1,903,768  57,500  3,172,468 

 
Changes in Expendable Funds Available for Awards 
 
Fund balances, beginning of year  96,711  12,130  261,055  38,692  408,588 
Expendable donations  -      -    1,000  -      1,000  
Investment income  12,063  1,575  22,457  913  37,008 
Bursaries awarded  (23,629)  (2,200)  (15,613)   (1,144)   (42,586) 
Fund balances, end of year  85,145  11,505  268,899  38,461  404,010 

Total endowment fund balances   
    and market value  $ 1,156,801 $ 151,049 $ 2,172,667 $ 95,961 $ 3,576,478 

Awards issued in 2021 36 3 29 6 74 

 
15.   IMPACT OF COVID-19 

Due to the ongoing global pandemic, COVID-19, further impact on the College, its students and 
funding sources my occur. Management is actively monitoring the effect on its financial condition, 
liquidity, operations, suppliers, and workforce. Given the daily evolution of the COVID-19 
outbreak and the global responses to curb its spread, the College is not able to fully estimate the 
effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on its results of operations, financial condition, or liquidity at 
this time. 
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16. CHANGES IN NON-CASH OPERATING WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS 

  2021  2020 
 

Grants receivable $ 3,759,249 $ 543,983 
Accounts receivable  (3,942,695)  7,551,248 
Inventories  263,494  66,466 
Prepaid expenses  (29,228)  131,500 
Accounts payable and accrued charges  14,222,939  33,864,879 
Deferred revenue  21,179,322  (13,172,926) 
Funds held in trust  687,527  (64,485) 

   $ 36,140,608 $ 28,920,665 
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THE LAMBTON COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS
AND TECHNOLOGY
Analysis of Operating Revenue
For the year ended March 31, 2021 Schedule 1

2021                 2020                

GRANTS AND REIMBURSEMENTS
Basic operating and supplemental grants 22,333,758$     20,761,186$     
Apprentice training 666,138            904,642            
Municipal taxes 173,625            177,525            
Capital support grants 352,135            2,374                
Employment Services 2,113,884         2,281,658         
Literacy and Basic Skills 540,549            542,275            
Bursaries 90,077              87,148              
Other provincial grants 1,647,221         2,831,668         
Federal grants 3,795,584         3,335,452         
Municipal grants 942,143            1,044,348         

32,655,114       31,968,276       

STUDENT TUITION
Full-time 7,140,189         8,224,587         
Part-time 1,877,895         1,545,024         
Contract education 2,405,148         4,114,623         
International education 47,694,066       44,052,722       
Sundry fees 3,298,497         4,282,898         

62,415,795       62,219,854       

ANCILLARY OPERATIONS
Campus Shop 976,973            2,551,596         
Parking 219                   507,096            
Residence and Event Centre 647,030            1,332,542         

1,624,222         4,391,234         

OTHER INCOME
Other sources 2,328,903         4,847,822         
Donations from The Lambton College Foundation 412,865            381,765            

2,741,768         5,229,587         

AMORTIZATION OF DEFERRED CAPITAL 
CONTRIBUTIONS 4,981,904         5,219,492         

104,418,803$   109,028,443$   
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Background & Context 

In March 2015, the Government of Ontario 

announced, “It’s Never Okay: An Action 

Plan to Stop Sexual Violence and 

Harassment”. This Action Plan set out the 

government’s commitment to stopping 

sexual violence and harassment across the 

province. The Action Plan introduced 

legislation that required all Ontario colleges 

and universities to work with students to 

create campus-wide sexual violence and 

harassment policies. As Lambton College is 

a publicly assisted college, the Ministry of 

Training, Colleges and Universities Act, 
1990 requires the submission of an annual 

report to the Lambton College Board of 

Governors and the Ministry of Colleges and 

Universities (herein referred to as the 

“MCU”). This annual report addresses and 

reports on a number of matters related to 

the experiences of and supports offered to 

students who are affected by sexual 

assault. 

Sexual violence is defined as “any act 

targeting a person’s sexuality, gender 

identity or gender expression, whether the 

act is physical or psychological in nature, 

that is committed, threatened or attempted 

against a person without the person’s 

consent, and includes sexual assault, sexual 

harassment, stalking, indecent exposure, 

voyeurism and sexual exploitation” 

(Ministry of Training, Colleges and 

Universities Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. M.19).  

The Lambton College Sexual Assault and 

Sexual Violence Policy and Protocol (herein 

referred to as the “Policy”) addresses 

sexual violence and describes the process 

of how the College will respond to and 

address incidents and complaints of sexual 

violence involving students enrolled at the 

College. The Policy also provides 

recommendations on additional steps to 

ensure a safe environment for all. At least 

once every three years the Policy must be 

reviewed and amended as needed.

 

When developing the Policy, student input 

was considered and is considered each 

time the policy is reviewed or amended.  

A Community Response 

At Lambton College, we are committed to the 

elimination of sexual violence from campus 

and to members of our college community. 

Sexual violence is a broad societal issue that 

is rooted in gender inequality, power and 

oppression. As such, measures to address 

sexual violence on campus must consider an 

approach that is developmental, responsive 

and supportive.  

Lambton College commits to a community 

response that seeks to build and develop an 

environment that is safe and supportive for 

its members through education, prevention, 

incident response, survivor support, and 

community development. 

Sexual Assault Advisory Task Force 

The MCU requires that every publicly assisted 

college and university have a task force 

devoted to tackling sexual violence on 

campus. The Lambton College Sexual Assault 

Advisory Task Force (herein referred to as the 

“Task Force”) established in 2016 is 

responsible for providing thoughtful, 

objective and strategic leadership to the 

implementation of sexual violence 

prevention, awareness and education 

initiatives, including policy development and 

supports. The Policy was first established in 

December 2016 and was last updated in 

December 2020. The Policy balances 

survivors’ needs, and respondents’ rights 

while ensuring that the individual who has 

been affected by sexual assault will be 

believed, supported and appropriately 

accommodated. In addition, Lambton College 

provides a mandatory training module on the 

policy and protocol for all employees. The 

Task Force representation consists of 

students, faculty, staff, administration and 

representatives from local community 

services. 
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The Task Force is currently made up of the 

following members: 

Member Name Position 

Angie Marks Sexual Assault Survivors' 

Centre Sarnia-Lambton 

and Women’s Interval 

Home of Sarnia-Lambton 

Patrick Bennett Registrar, Lambton 

College 

Laura Burke Safety & Security 

Specialist, Lambton 

College 

James Grant Manager, Athletics & 

Student Life, Lambton 

College 

Kurtis Gray Director, Student Success 

& Community 

Engagement, Lambton 

College 

Rob Kardas Vice-President, Academic  

& Student Success, 

Lambton College - Chair 

Karolina 

Kulinska 

Counsellor, Lambton 

College 

Leslie Lapier Sexual & Domestic 

Assault Treatment Centre, 

Bluewater Health 

Jane Manning Manager, Indigenous 

Education, Lambton 

College 

Greg Lee Manager, Student 

Housing & Conference 

Services 

Kristen Carter Victim Services, Sarnia-

Lambton 

Francis Haight Campus Nurse, Lambton 

College 

Carolyn 

Fracalanza 

Student Success, 

Administrative Assistant, 

Lambton College 

Student 

Representative 

Student Administrative 

Council 

Figure 1.1 – Sexual Violence Task Force Membership

During 2020, the Task Force assembled 

virtually for an online meeting.  Key priorities 

and objectives moving forward are:  

1. To ensure that the college complies with 

the legislative requirements outlined by 

the MCU and Ontario Human Rights 

Code. 

2. Work collaboratively to implement sexual 

violence prevention, training, education 

and response efforts as outlined in the 

Sexual Violence Action and Education 

Plan. 

3. Participate in the community roundtable 

to identify issues, trends, insights and 

best practices. 

4. Focus on community partner reporting. 

A subcommittee was created to develop a 

detailed action plan designed to track and 

monitor the work of the Sexual Assault and 

Sexual Violence Advisory Task Force. It 

assesses the effectiveness of Lambton 

College’s current programs and services to 

combat sexual violence on campus and 

provides recommendations on additional 

steps that the College may take to ensure a 

safe environment for all.  On December 3, 

2019 the sub-committee met to create a 2020-

2021 Sexual Assault and Sexual Violence 

Prevention and Education Plan. This detailed 

action plan includes 20 objectives with 

associated actions and timelines. 

Reporting Obligations to Board of Governors 
and Ministry 

The Ministry of Training, Colleges and 
Universities Act, 1990 requires that every 

post-secondary institution collect data and 

other information relating to the following: 

1. The number of times supports, services 

and accommodations relating to sexual 

violence are requested and obtained by 

students and information about the 

supports, services and accommodations. 

2. Any initiatives and programs established 

by the college to promote awareness of 

the supports and services available to 

students. 
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3. The number of incidents and complaints 

of sexual violence reported by students 

and information about such incidents and 

complaints. 

4. The implementation and effectiveness of 

the policy. 

Reporting Metric Definitions 

• Sexual Assault is defined as the non-

consensual contact or activity, including 

the threat of such activity, done by one 

person or a group of persons to another. 

Can range from unwanted sexual touching, 

kissing, or fondling to forced sexual 

intercourse. 

• Stalking is defined as behaviours that 

occur on more than one occasion and 

which collectively instill fear in the person 

or threaten the person’s safety or mental 

health, or that of their family or friends. 

Includes face to face, phone, email, social 

media, surveillance and pursuit, and 

sending unsolicited gifts. 

• Sexual Harassment is defined as a course 

of vexatious comment, conduct and/or 

communication based on sex, sexual 

orientation, gender, gender identity, or 

gender expression or orientation that is 

known or should be known to be 

unwelcome. 

• Indecent Exposure is defined as the 

exposure of the private or intimate parts of 

the body in a lewd or sexual manner, in 

public place when the perpetrator may be 

readily observed. Includes exhibitionism. 

• Voyeurism is defined as the surreptitious 

observing of a person without their 

consent and in circumstances where they 

could reasonably expect privacy. Includes 

direct observation, observation by 

mechanical means, or visual recordings. 

• Sexual Exploitation is defined as taking 

advantage of another person through non-

consensual or abusive sexual control. May 

include digital or electronic broadcasting, 

distributing, recording and photographing 

of people involved in sexual acts without 

their consent. 

Reports  

A formal report of sexual violence can be 

made through the Office of the Registrar.  

Individuals who report an incident of sexual 

violence are supported through Safety & 

Security and the Wellness Centre.  Formal 

reports are investigated and the investigation 

may be terminated at any time if the survivor 

no longer wishes to continue, as long as the 

nature of the incident does not endanger 

public safety. In 2020, there were no reports 

of sexual violence on the Sarnia campus. 

Lambton College’s partnership colleges, 

CESTAR and Queen’s also had no reports of 

sexual violence. Lambton College held 

meetings with CESTAR and Queen’s to align 

prevention efforts on sexual violence 

reporting, action planning and support 

services for our students. 

Sarnia Campus – Complaints of Sexual 
Violence 

Number of Formal Complaints 

Sexual Violence 

2017 2018 2019 2020 

5 5 1 0 

Sexual Assault 2 2 1 0 

Sexual 

Harassment 

1 1 1 0 

Stalking 1 3 0 0 

Indecent 

Exposure 

1 0 0 0 

Voyeurism 0 0 0 0 

Sexual 

Exploitation 

0 0 1 0 

Figure 1.2 - Formal Complaints of Sexual Violence * A 

complaint of sexual violence may include more than 

one reporting metric 

Student Supports and Services Requested 
and Obtained-Sarnia 

Number of Times Student Supports and 

Services Requested and Obtained in 2020 

Supports 1 

Services 1 

Accommodations 1 

Figure 1.3 – Student Supports and Services Requested 

and Obtained at Sarnia Campus
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Cestar College – Complaints of Sexual 
Violence 

Number of Formal Complaints 

Sexual Violence 

2017 2018 2019 2020 

 1 0 0 

Sexual Assault  0 0 0 

Sexual 

Harassment 

 1 0 0 

Stalking  0 0 0 

Indecent 

Exposure 

 0 0 0 

Voyeurism  0 0 0 

Sexual 

Exploitation 

 0 0 0 

Figure 1.4 - Formal Complaints of Sexual Violence at 

Cestar College * A complaint of sexual violence may 

include more than one reporting metric 

Student Supports and Services Requested 
and Obtained-Cestar 

Number of Times Student Supports and 

Services Requested and Obtained in 2020 

Supports  0 

Services 0 

Accommodations 0 

Figure 1.5. - Student Supports and Services Requested 

and Obtained at Cestar Campus 

Queen’s College - Complaints of Sexual 
Violence 

Number of Formal Complaints 

Sexual Violence 

2017 2018 2019 2020 

 1 2 0 

Sexual Assault  0 0 0 

Sexual 

Harassment 

 1 2 0 

Stalking  0 0 0 

Indecent 

Exposure 

 0 0 0 

Voyeurism  0 0 0 

Sexual 

Exploitation 

 0 0 0 

Figure 1.6 - Formal Complaints of Sexual Violence at 

Queen’s College * A complaint of sexual violence may 

include more than one reporting metric 

Student Supports and Services Requested and 
Obtained-Queen’s 

Number of Times Student Supports and 

Services Requested and Obtained in 2020 

Supports 0 

Services 0 

Accommodations 0 

Figure 1.7 - Student Supports and Services Requested 

and Obtained at Queen’s Campus 

Statistics 

When reviewing the statics with respect to 

reports of sexual violence it is important to 

note that there are distinctions between 

disclosures and reports.  Disclosures are 

informal, can occur in any space at the 

college and can be made to any member of 

community without a formal report. A 

survivor who chooses to disclose is offered 

connection to several resources and advised 

on the may pathways that they can opt to 

pursue. 

Training and Awareness 

The Task Force has identified the affects 

COVID-19 on survivors of sexual violence.  

Many external services have been closed and 

adapted for online offerings. Lambton College 

will continue to work together with our 

community partners to best support survivors 

during COVID-19, create public awareness 

campaigns and have them posted on a 

variety of different platforms, and implement 

virtual Bystander Intervention Training. 

On and Off Campus Supports 

Support and accommodations are available 

to survivors through various services and 

departments on-campus. A number of 

community supports and resources are also 

available to students. A Lambton College 

student who is looking for support and/or 

accommodations can go to the Wellness 

Centre and speak with a counsellor. A 

counsellor connects the student with the 

supports and accommodations. 
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New Campus Initiatives  

Many activities, training and campaigns were 

postponed due to COVID-19 and the closure 

of campus buildings.  Training was offered 

for Residence Advisors and a virtual health 

fair was held. A healthy relationships 

campaign was delivered with a focus on 

respect and consent.  Many physical 

improvements were made to the campus 

such as the installation of employee panic 

desktop buttons, security cameras, swipe 

card access and the installation of exterior 

emergency duress stations. 

Summary 

Lambton College is committed to confronting 

and preventing sexual violence and creating a 

safe space for anyone in our College 

community who has been affected by sexual 

violence. The College strives to provide a safe 

and positive space where members of our 

community feel able to work, learn and 

express themselves in an environment free 

from sexual violence. Lambton is able to do 

this by engaging in public education, 

prevention activities and providing 

appropriate education and training to the 

College community about sexual violence 

and assault. Lambton College uses social 

media platforms and the myLambton.ca 

Sexual Violence Support & Education page to 

share important sexual violence related 

information and promote the College’s values 

for a respectful and supportive survivor-

centered response.  

Lambton ensures that those who disclose that 

they have experienced sexual violence are 

believed, and that their right to dignity and 

respect is protected throughout the process 

of disclosure, investigation and adjudication.  

Students are strongly encouraged to report 

incidents of sexual violence, but do not need 

to file a report or formal complaint to obtain 

supports, services, or accommodation from 

the College. Lambton College will continue to 

update and monitor our Sexual Assault and 

Sexual Violence Policy & Protocol to ensure 

that it remains effective and in line with our 

other existing policies and best practices. 

 

Lambton College is always working towards 

the creation of a campus atmosphere in 

which sexual violence is not tolerated and 

where College community members feel 

comfortable coming forward and reporting 

incidents of sexual violence. 
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Report Contents

• Sexual Violence Advisory Task Force Report

• Reporting Metrics

• Accommodations & Supports

• Next Steps



Sexual Assault and Sexual Violence 
Policy and Protocol
• Task force and student consultations on the 

initial development of the policy and protocol.

• Policy established in 2016 and updated 
in October 2019.

• Policy has shown to be effective and meets 
several of the needs of the broader Lambton 
Community:
• ensures procedural fairness, survivor driven, 

encourages reporting and supports cultural change.



Task Force Report of Activities 2020

Sexual Assault Advisory Task Force meeting held 
virtually on December 8, 2020.

Focused on 3 components:

1. Approval of the Lambton College Board of 
Governors 2019 Annual Report and working 
with the Public-Private Partnerships

2. The Sexual Violence Prevention and Education 
Plan

3. Community Roundtable – Issues, trends, 
insights and best practices



1. Lambton College Board Report

• Discussed steps to develop partnership with 
College’s Public-Private Partnerships (PPP) 
focusing on development of supports, 
communication and reporting metrics.

• Scheduling of community resource videos on 
accessing off campus services.

• Development of Sexual Assault Prevention 
Ambassador student position.



2. Sexual Assault & Sexual Violence 
Prevention and Education Plan 

• Sub-committee created to develop detailed 
action plan.

• Includes 20 objectives with associated actions 
and timelines.

• Looks at 3 pillars - The Policy, Prevention & 
Education and then Support.



3. Community Roundtable

• Community Partners provided input on current 
issues, trends, insights and best practices.

• Identified impacts of COVID-19 on services 
offered
• Services adapted and offered virtually
• Lower numbers seen in the spring/summer of 2020

• Working together with community partners to:
• Best support survivors throughout COVID-19
• Create public awareness campaigns
• Implement virtual Bystander Intervention Training



Sexual Violence Task Force 
Membership

2020 Membership

Patrick Bennett, Registrar, Lambton College Leslie Lapier, Sexual & Domestic Assault Treatment 
Centre, Bluewater Health

Laura Burke, Safety & Security Specialist, Lambton 
College

Jane Manning, Manager, Indigenous Education, 
Lambton College

James Grant, Manager, Athletics & Student Life, 
Lambton College

Greg Lee, Manager, Student Housing & Conference 
Services

Kurtis Gray, Director, Student Success & Community 
Engagement, Lambton College

Kristen Carter, Victim Services, Sarnia-Lambton

Rob Kardas, Vice-President, Academic & Student 
Success, Lambton College - Chair

Angie Marks, Sexual Assault Survivors' Centre Sarnia-
Lambton and Women’s Interval Home of Sarnia-
Lambton

Karolina Kulinska, Counsellor, Lambton College Francis Haight, Campus Nurse, Lambton College

Carolyn Fracalanza – Student Success, recording 
secretary

Student Position - vacant



Reporting Obligations to Board 
of Governors and Ministry 
• Number of times supports, services and 

accommodations relating to sexual violence are 
requested and obtained by students and information 
about the supports, services and accommodations.

• Any initiatives and programs established by the college 
to promote awareness of the supports and services 
available to students.

• The number of incidents and complaints of sexual 
violence reported by students and information about 
such incidents and complaints.

• The implementation and effectiveness of the policy.



Reporting Metric Definitions

VOYEURISM
The surreptitious observing of a person without their
consent and in circumstnaces where they could
reasonably expect privacy. Includes direct observation,
observation by mechanical means, or visual recordings

SEXUAL HARASSMENT
A course of vexatious comment, conduct and/or
communication based on sex, sexual orientation,
gender, gender identity, or gender expression or
orientation that is known or should be known to be
unwelcome

SEXUAL EXPLOITATION
Taking advantage of another person through non-
consentual or abusive sexual control. May include
digital or electronic broadcasting, distributing,
recording and photographing of people involved in
sexual acts without their consent

STALKING
Behaviours that occur on more than one occasion
and which collectively instill fear in the person or
threaten the person’s safety or mental health, or that
of their family or friends. Includes face to face,
phone, email, social media, surveillance and pursuit,
and sending unsolicited gifts

INDECENT EXPOSURE
The exposure of the private or intimate parts of the
body in a lewd or sexual manner, in public place when
the perpetrator may be readily observed. Includes
exhibitionism

SEXUAL ASSAULT
Non-consensual contact or activity, including the
threat of such activity, done by one person or a
group of persons to another. Can range from
unwanted sexual touching, kissing, or fondling to
forced sexual intercourse



2017 2018 2019 2020

*Total Number of Complaints of Sexual Violence 5 5 1 0

Total number of complaints of sexual assault 2 2 1 0

Total number of complaints of sexual harassment 1 1 1 0

Total number of complaints of stalking 1 3 0 0

Total number of complaints of indecent exposure 1 0 0 0

Total number of complaints of voyeurism 0 0 0 0

Total number of complaints of sexual exploitation 0 0 1 0

Sarnia Campus - Complaints of 
Sexual Violence

* A complaint of sexual violence may include more than one reporting metric



Number of Times Student Supports and Services 
Requested and Obtained in 2020

Supports 3

Services 3

Accommodations 3

Student Supports and Services 
Requested and Obtained-Sarnia



2017 2018 2019 2020

*Total Number of Complaints of Sexual Violence 1 0 0

Total number of complaints of sexual assault 0 0 0

Total number of complaints of sexual harassment 1 0 0

Total number of complaints of stalking 0 0 0

Total number of complaints of indecent exposure 0 0 0

Total number of complaints of voyeurism 0 0 0

Total number of complaints of sexual exploitation 0 0 0

Cestar College - Complaints of 
Sexual Violence

* A complaint of sexual violence may include more than one reporting metric



Number of Times Student Supports and Services 
Requested and Obtained in 2020

Supports 0

Services 0

Accommodations 0

Student Supports and Services 
Requested and Obtained-Cestar



2017 2018 2019 2020

*Total Number of Complaints of Sexual Violence 1 2 0

Total number of complaints of sexual assault 0 0 0

Total number of complaints of sexual harassment 1 2 0

Total number of complaints of stalking 0 0 0

Total number of complaints of indecent exposure 0 0 0

Total number of complaints of voyeurism 0 0 0

Total number of complaints of sexual exploitation 0 0 0

Queen’s College - Complaints of 
Sexual Violence

* A complaint of sexual violence may include more than one reporting metric



Number of Times Student Supports and Services 
Requested and Obtained in 2020

Supports 0

Services 0

Accommodations 0

Student Supports and Services 
Requested and Obtained-Queen’s



On Campus Supports

• Health and Wellness Centre

• Counselling Services

• Nurse Practitioner

• Let’s Face It - Peer Support Group

• Student Administrative Council

• Campus Safety and Security

• Student Code of Conduct Investigation & 
Adjudication 



Accommodations

• Academic accommodations

• Alternate class schedules

• Alternate parking arrangements

• Residence room changes

• Safety planning

• Safe walks

• Personal safety recommendations

• Coping and managing strategies



Off Campus Supports

• Counselling Services

• Sarnia Police / OPP 

• Bluewater Health Sexual Assault/Domestic 
Violence Treatment Centre 

• Victim Services

• Sexual Assault Survivors’ Centre Sarnia-
Lambton

• Women’s Interval Home



Campus Initiatives 2020

• Residence Advisor training

• Healthy Relationships Campaign

• Physical improvements to campus
• Installation of employee panic desktop buttons

• Security camera 

• Swipe card reader installation

• Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design 
Assessment



Moving Forward – Next Steps

• Analyze opportunities to collaborate with 
community partners on the development of an 
internal Lambton College Bystander Intervention 
Workshop for students.

• Implement an online policy feedback form on the 
effectiveness of the policy.

• Enhance Peer Supports and outreach on campus.

• Complete objectives on the Lambton College 
Sexual Violence Prevention and Education Plan.



Quality Assurance

Report on 2020 Activities



1 Year Follow-Up

Ministry of Colleges and 
Universities

Ontario Colleges Quality 
Assurance Service

Credentials Validation 
Service

College Quality Assurance 
Audit Process (CQAAP)

New Programs Approval
Lambton College Board of Governors

Lambton College QA Policy

President

Quality Assurance Council

Office of Quality Assurance and 
Institutional Research

Annual Q.A. Plan

Program Review Teams Triennial/Revitalization & Rationalization

Reports

Office of Quality Assurance
Quality Assurance Council

V.P.A, V.P. Admin, Deans, Directors

President
Quality Assurance Annual Report

Lambton College Board of Governors

Quality Assurance Audit

LAMBTON COLLEGE QUALITY ASSURANCE FLOW CHART



Role of the Board in QA
• Implement Policy and Structure

• Board policy (4-013) in place with delegation
• Organizational structure in place

• Oversight of Implementation and Activity
• Confirmation of QA processes and activity
• Compliance with College Quality Assurance 

Audit Process (CQAAP)
• Monitor indicators of quality assurance impact 

or success



QA Reviews and Reports
• Triennial

• 3-year mark
• Self-study report

• Comprehensive
• 6-year mark
• Team of faculty, students, graduates, community 

experts
• Implementation Report

• One-year follow-up
• College Quality Assurance Audit Process (CQAAP)

• Every 5 years



Overview of QA in 2020
• There were eight Triennial Program Reviews:

• General Arts/Liberal Studies (GASX/LIBS)
• Millwright (MTIM)
• Pharmacy(PHRM) 
• Personal Support (PSWK/M/P)
• Bachelor of Science, Nursing (BScN/P)
• Instrumentation (ICET/ICTN)
• Electrical Power Distribution & Control (PDCT)
• Workplace Safety (WSPP) - new program, initial 

review 



Overview of QA in 2020
• Comprehensive Program Reviews – in 2020

• Five comprehensive program reviews were 
completed 

• Advanced Teaching—eLearning & Instructional 
Design/eLearning Design & Training 
Development (ATDS/ETIS)

• Computer Software & Database Development (CSAC)
• Electrical Techniques (ELTC)
• Esthetician (ESTH)
• Environmental Technician—Water & Wastewater Systems 

Operations (EWSO)



Overview of QA in 2020
Implementation Reports
• Six were completed and received by the QA 

Council:
• General Carpenter Apprenticeship Program 

(CARB/CARI/CARA)
• Construction Maintenance and Electrician Apprenticeship 

Program (CMEB/CMEI/CMEA)
• Steamfitter Apprenticeship Program (STMB/STMI/STMA)
• Culinary Program (CULX)
• Office Administration Programs (OAGN/OAEX/OAHS)
• Pre-Service Firefighter Education (PFET) & Fire Science 

Technology (FIRE)



Recommendation 
Implementation

Program Total 
Recommend-
ations

Completed Partially 
Implemented

Incomplete Rejected

CARB/I/A 10 9 0 0 1

CMEB/I/A 10 6 0 3 1

STMB/I/A 17 14 0 2 1

CULX 22 11 6 2 3

OAGN/EX/HS 19 12 6 0 1

PFET & FIRE 23 18 3 2 0
Total (%) 101 70 (69.3%) 15 (14.8%) 9 (8.9%) 7 (6.9%)



Overview of QA in 2020
• Systemic/institutional challenges identified from QA 

Reviews
• Members of the College Leadership Team and the Marketing 

Department responded to recommendations in December 2020.
• The Quality Assurance Council reviewed the response and was 

satisfied that the institutional challenges could be rectified with the 
action plan proposed by the Marketing Department.



CQAAP

• College Quality Assurance Audit Process, 2020
• Audit Results – Met all 6 standards 
• Audit Decision – Mature effort rating

The audit panel found that the BOG members were very well informed about all 
aspects of the College’s quality assurance procedures, as well as the valuable 
work done by the Program and Services Committee. BOG members were also 
found to be very engaged at the program level through attendance on various 
Program Advisory Committees.



Quality Assurance in 2021
• Four reviews just completed: 

• Police Foundations/Protections, Security and 
Investigations (PFND/PSIP)

• Chemical Engineering Technology (CPET)
• Workplace Safety and Prevention Program (WSPP)
• Hospitality and Tourism Management Programs 

(HMAN/TMAN)
• Implementation reports expected from:

• Environmental Technician (EWSO)
• Computer Software & Database Development (CSAC)
• E-Learning/Teaching (ATDS/ETIS)



New Comprehensive Program 
Review Process
• Piloting a new Comprehensive Program Review 

process.
• Two reviews scheduled for Fall: 

• eSports Entrepreneurship & Administration 
(ESEA)/eSports Management (ESMS)

• Sports & Recreation Management (SRAM)



Revitalization & Rationalization
• In 2020, several programs entered the PPR&R 

process as part of our pandemic response:
• Renovation/Carpentry (CACT/RENT)
• Culinary (CULX)
• Developmental Service Worker (DSWP)
• Massage Therapy (MSTC)
• Chem Lab/Chem Tech (CLAB/CTEC)



Overview of QA with Licensees
• Oversight of QA by Ruth Drewitt (International Office)

• Program reviews completed in 2020
• Marketing Management & Professional Sales 

(MMPT)
• Cloud Computing and Big Data (CCBT)
• Computer Programmer (CPCM)
• Computer Programmer (CPCT)
• Computer Software and Database Development 

(CSAT)



Overview of QA with Licensees
• Follow-up reports completed in 2020:

• Quality Engineering Management (QEMT)
• Chemical Laboratory Analysis (LAQT)
• Embedded Systems Engineering Design 

(EMBT)
• Construction Project Management (CPMT)



Overview of QA with Licensees
• Reviews scheduled for 2021:

• Advanced Health Care Leadership (AHCT)
• Cyber Security & Computer Forensics (CSFM)
• Mobile Application Design and Development (MADT)
• Financial Planning and Wealth Management (FPWT)
• Marketing Management Digital Media (MMDT)
• Business Management - International Business 

(BMIM)
• International Business (BINM)
• Business Management - Human Resources (BMHM)



 
 

OFFICE OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
2021 NOMINATION FORM - ELECTION OF OFFICERS 

 
Please use a separate nomination form for each nomination. 

 
 

We, the undersigned, nominate  
 
                      Barry Hogan       for the position of Chair, OR 
 
                                                                  
                                                                                    for the position of 1st Vice Chair, OR 
 
 
        for the position of 2nd Vice Chair, 
(Please PRINT name of Nominee) 
 
 
For a term commencing on September 1, 2021 and ending on  August 31, 2022. 
 
 
1. _____________Michael Caverly______________________ 
 Nominated by (signature) 
 
 
2. _____________Dean Pearson________________________ 
 Seconded by (signature) 
 
NOTE: 
 
1. The definition and duties for Board officers can be in Operating By Law No. 1 of the 

Board of Governors. 
 
2. These positions must be filled from among the external Board members.   
 
3. A person may nominate more than one person for the same position. 
 
4. Each nominee must be nominated by two (2) Board members. (Internal governors can 

be nominators.) 
 
5. Nominations will also be called from the floor. 
 
  
S.Dickson 
Secretary-Treasurer 
 



 
 

OFFICE OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
2021 NOMINATION FORM - ELECTION OF OFFICERS 

 
Please use a separate nomination form for each nomination. 

 
 

We, the undersigned, nominate  
 
                              for the position of Chair, OR 
 
                                                                  
                                         Susan Ferguson                for the position of 1st Vice Chair, OR 
 
 
        for the position of 2nd Vice Chair, 
(Please PRINT name of Nominee) 
 
 
For a term commencing on September 1, 2021 and ending on  August 31, 2022. 
 
 
1. _____________Dave Park__________________________ 
 Nominated by (signature) 
 
 
2. _____________Brian Lucas_________________________ 
 Seconded by (signature) 
 
NOTE: 
 
1. The definition and duties for Board officers can be found in the Operating By Law No. 1  

of the Board of Governors. 
 
2. These positions must be filled from among the external Board members.   
 
3. A person may nominate more than one person for the same position. 
 
4. Each nominee must be nominated by two (2) Board members. (Internal governors can 

be nominators.) 
 
5. Nominations will also be called from the floor. 
 
  
S.Dickson 
Secretary-Treasurer 
 



 
 

OFFICE OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
2021 NOMINATION FORM - ELECTION OF OFFICERS 

 
Please use a separate nomination form for each nomination. 

 
 

We, the undersigned, nominate  
 
                                                  for the position of Chair, OR 
 
                                                                  
                                                                                    for the position of 1st Vice Chair, OR 
 
 
     Shannon Landry for the position of 2nd Vice Chair, 
(Please PRINT name of Nominee) 
 
 
For a term commencing on September 1, 2021 and ending on  August 31, 2022. 
 
 
1. _____________Michael Caverly______________________ 
 Nominated by (signature) 
 
 
2. ____________Janice McMichael-Dennis _______________ 
 Seconded by (signature) 
 
NOTE: 
 
1. The definition and duties for Board officers can be in Operating By Law No. 1 of the 

Board of Governors. 
 
2. These positions must be filled from among the external Board members.   
 
3. A person may nominate more than one person for the same position. 
 
4. Each nominee must be nominated by two (2) Board members. (Internal governors can 

be nominators.) 
 
5. Nominations will also be called from the floor. 
 
  
S.Dickson 
Secretary-Treasurer 
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 BOARD OF GOVERNORS 2021-2022 ANNUAL PLAN AND CALENDAR OF EVENTS  
 

MONTH AT BOARD MEETING 
Board Mandated Reports   /      Board P.D. 
 
(R) = Required 

OTHER ACTIVITY /  
Finance & Property / Programs & 

Services/Executive Committee 
 

RESPONSIBILITY 

September 28, 2021 
 

New Governor Orientation   President, Board Secretary, & 
Board Chair 

October 28, 2021 
 
Board Meeting 
10:00-11:30 a.m. 
 
Retreat 
11:30-5:00 p.m.  

 
OPEN Board Meeting  
• Impacting Student Lives Story 
• July 2021 Financial Statement Review (R) 
• Appointment to Board Standing Committees 
 and Program Advisory Committees (PACs) 
 (R) 
• Mentor Assignments (R) 

•  Enactus presentation if the meeting is in 
 person 

IN-CAMERA 
TBD  
*President’s Evaluation October 2022 
 
Board Planning and Development Retreat  
 
Retreat Potential Topics 

• International Ed or Project Momentum 
Workshop – Education 4.0 

• Board and Self-Evaluation Review (survey 
completed in June) 

• 2020-21 Lambton College Report &  
2021-22 Future Directions (R) 

 
 
 

 
Programs and Services – October 14, 2021 
Finance & Property –    October 21, 2021 

Board Chair, President, 
Secretary-Treasurer 
Board Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 

Date to be confirmed 
In-person or Virtual 
Unknown at this time 
 

 Colleges Ontario Fall Governors’ Orientation 
Program Part 1 & 2 
 
 
 

Attending: 
New Governors 
Executive Committee 
Governors who have not had 
the opportunity 
Board Executive Assistant to 
coordinate 
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December 9, 2021 
4:30 p.m. 
 

OPEN Board Meeting 

• Impacting Student Lives Story 

• September 2021 Statements (R) 

• Fall Financial Forecast (R)  

• Tuition & Compulsory Fees Approval (R)  
 

*Appreciation Event or Item 
 

Executive Committee- November 25, 2021 
Programs & Services Committee –Nov. 25, 
2021  
Finance & Property – December 2, 2021 
 

Chair, President 
Chair, Programs & Services 
Senior V.P Academic9Chair, 
Finance & Property 
V.P. Finance & Administration 
 
 

January 27, 2022 
4:30 p.m. 
 
 
 

OPEN Board Meeting 

• SAC Annual Report (R) 

• Health & Safety Annual Report (R) 

• Insurance, Risk Management and 
Cybersecurity Report (R –information only) 

 
IN-CAMERA 

• Approval of President and Board’s 
 Performance Goals 2022-2023(R) 

• President 2021-2022 Six-Month Goal Report  
 (R) 
 

Executive Committee – January 19, 2022 Chair, President 

March 3, 2022 
4:30 p.m. 
 
 

OPEN Board Meeting  

• Impacting Student Lives Story 

• December 2021 Statements (R) 

• Financial Update  

• Research Ethics Board Annual Report (R) 
 

IN-CAMERA 
TBD 

 

Executive Committee- February 21, 2022 
Programs & Services – February 17, 2022  
 
Finance & Property – February 24, 2022 
 

Chair, President 
Chair, Programs & Services 
Senior V.P Academic 
Chair, Finance & Property 
V.P. Finance & Administration 
 
 

April 7, 2022 
4:30 p.m. 
 
 

OPEN Board Meeting  
             Impacting Student Lives Story 

• Budget and Business Plan 2022-2023(R) 

• 2021 Quality Assurance Presentation (R) 

• Approval of Honorary Diploma for 
Convocation Speaker if needed (R) 
 

Begin internal election process if required 
Begin President’s Evaluation Process 
Board Officer Nomination forms to Board 
Executive Committee – March 21, 2022 
Programs & Services – March 24, 2022 
Finance & Property –    March 31, 2022  
 
Student Governor Election (coordinate with 
SAC Elections) 
 
 
 

Board Chair 
President’s Evaluation 
Committee 
 
Board Secretary 
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June 9, 2022 
4:30 p.m. 

 
 
 

OPEN Board Meeting 

• Impacting Student Lives Story 

• 2021 Sexual Assault and Violence Annual    
Report (R) 

• Auditors’ Presentation of Audited Financial 
Statements (R) 

• Annual Plan and Calendar of Events 
Reviewed and Approved (R) 

• Approve Nominations for new Governors (R) 

• Election Chair, 1st Vice-Chair and 2nd Vice-
Chair (R) 

IN-CAMERA 

• President’s Final Goal Report (R) 

• Recognition of Retiring Governors 
   

Notification of Governors’ Award winner for 
Convocation 
Electronic Board and Self-Evaluation survey 
opens 
Executive Committee –  May 26, 2022 
Programs & Services –  May 26, 2022 
Finance 
Finance & Property – June 2, 2022 
 
Presentation to Exiting Governors 
 
Convocation Ceremony  

Board Chair 
Board Members 
 
 

 



 

Additional meetings as required at the call of the Chairs. 
Meeting coordinates will be confirmed before each meeting. 

Schedule of Meetings September 2021 – June 2022 
Board of Governors, Executive Committee, Finance & Property Committee, & Programs & 

Services Committee 
 

Board of Governors 
4:30 – 7:30 p.m. 

Executive Committee 
 

 
 

 
TBD 
 

TBD 

November 25, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

January 19, 2022 
 
 
 
 

February 21, 2022 

March 21, 2022  
 
 
 
 
 

Finance and Property 
Committee 

9:00  – 10:30 a.m. 

 Programs and 
Services 

Committee 
11:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. 

 

September 28, 2021 
New Governor Board 
Orientation 
 

  

October 28, 2021 
 
Board Meeting  
10:00 a.m. -11:30 a.m. 
July 2021 Financial 
Statement Review (R) 
 
Board Retreat  
11:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 
Topic TBD 
 

October 21, 2021 
 

October 14, 2021 
 

December 9, 2021 
September 2021 Financial 
Statements (R) 
Fall Financial Forecast (R)  
Tuition & Compulsory Fees 
Approval (R) 
 

December 2, 2021 
 

November 25, 2021 

January 27, 2022 
SAC Annual Report (R) 
Health & Safety Annual 
Report (R) 
Insurance, Risk 
Management and 
Cybersecurity Report (R –
information only) 
 

  
 

March 3rd, 2022 
December 2021 
Statements (R) 
Financial Update  
Research Ethics Board 
Annual Report (R) 
 
 

February 24, 2022 
 
 
 
 

February 17, 2022 

April 7, 2022 
Budget and Business Plan 
2022-2023(R) 
2021 Quality Assurance 
Report (R) 
 

March 31, 2022 March 24,2022 



 

Additional meetings as required at the call of the Chairs. 
Meeting coordinates will be confirmed before each meeting. 

June 9, 2022 
Auditors’ Presentation of 
Audited Financial  
Statements (R) 
2021 Sexual Assault and 
Sexual Violence Annual 
Report 
 

May 26, 2022 

 

June 2, 2022 May 26, 2022 

 



 
PRESIDENT’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

JUNE 3, 2021 
  

The College’s philosophy guiding all of the dedicated work during the pandemic has been, 
and continues to be, to create a safe and rich learning environment. 

PANDEMIC MANAGEMENT REPORT 

• On April 19th, Lambton Public Health (LPH) declared a COVID 19 outbreak in the 
Lambton College Residence. In total, 21 cases were linked to the outbreak in the 
residence. There have been 21 confirmed cases amongst students, employees or 
contractors who have been on-campus during their infectious period in 2021, 16 
of which were confirmed in April. 

• LPH declared the outbreak over on May 6th.  

• The College’s plan for the Graduate Celebration Parade taking place on June 16th 
was approved by the Primary Control Group on May 25th.  

• Fall semester scenarios continue to be refined as more information on the 
pandemic outlook becomes known.  

• The Deans and Directors Committee and Plan Ahead Steering Committee continue 
to meet bi-weekly, or as needed.  

• The Committee of Presidents continues to meet to discuss common COVID 
issues. 
  

STRATEGIC PLAN REPORT 

OUR STUDENTS 

Delivery, Programs, Credentials, Exceptional Student Services, Collaborative Learning 

• The Enactus Lambton team were named the runners-up in the Enactus Canada 
Championship after their first full year of Project One Circle, an agricultural and 
entrepreneurial project being undertaken in collaboration with First Nations 
communities across Canada. 

• The West Entrance/Campus Shop renovation project is underway. 

• The Roadway and Landscape project is also underway, with work beginning on 
the Wellington Street entrance. 

• A timeline has been developed for the Immersion Room project, with work 
beginning in September and wrapping up in December. 



 
• On April 19th, the President attended a meeting with representatives from a 

number of other colleges regarding Public Private Partnerships (PPPs). 

• On April 22nd, the President attended an announcement from the Minister of 
Colleges and Universities regarding a $15 million investment in micro-credentials. 

• A successful Winter Term came to a close on April 30th.   

• Work continues on Lambton College’s application to the Postsecondary Education 
Quality Assessment Board for Ministerial consent to offer a standalone Bachelor of 
Science – Nursing degree. It is anticipated that the application will be submitted 
mid-June. 

• The Chair of the Lambton College Board of Governors, President, and Vice 
President Finance & Administration met with representatives from the Auditor 
General’s Office on May 6th to discuss Ministry oversight and the reporting 
relationship. 

• The President joined the Minister of Labour, Training and Skills Development for 
an announcement on the Building Opportunities in the Skilled Trades Act, also on 
May 6th.  

• SLT continues to meet to develop strategies to position the College and our 
students to thrive in a post-COVID world shaped by Industry 4.0 and 5.0. 

  
OUR PEOPLE 

Engaged Healthy Employees and Diverse Inclusive Communities 

• A subset of the Deans and Directors Committee is developing guidelines for the 
Remote Work Agreements that will allow the College to have a flexible workforce 
going forward.  

• On April 13th, the President attended a College Employer Council Board of Directors 
Meeting.  

• The President and Vice President Finance & Administration met with 
representatives from Suncor Energy to discuss Equity, Diversity and Inclusion 
strategy.  

• The Teaching & Learning Commons has launched its 4 Seasons of Reconciliation 
training, a six-week professional development opportunity centring around Truth 
and Reconciliation. Approximately 70 administrators, faculty and staff members 
are taking part. The President will be attending. 

• Lambton College’s Truth & Reconciliation Task Force has also begun meeting. 



 
• In the month of May, the Teaching and Learning Commons held Professional 

Development Wednesdays to offer a robust range of opportunities for 
administrators, faculty and staff. 

• On May 7th, the President and Vice President Academic & Student Success 
attended a College Bargaining Orientation session with the College Employer 
Council.  

• The President continues to send communications to College employees at least 
once per week to inform on important developments and to stay engaged.  

 

OUR LOCAL AND GLOBAL COMMUNITY 

Collaborative Leadership of Truth and Reconciliation, Internationalization of our College 
and Community, Support Prosperity in our Local Community through Research, 
Innovation, and Entrepreneurship 

• The President and Senior Leadership Team (SLT) attended the Colleges and 
Institutes Canada (CICan) Connection Conference from April 26th to 28th.  

• Lambton College earned national recognition for Indigenous Education as we were 
named a Bronze recipient of the CICan Indigenous Leadership Excellence Award. 

• The President was presented with the CICan Presidents Leadership Network 2021 
Distinguished Service Award in honour of service and contribution to the college 
and institute system nationally. This honour will be publicly announced in June.  

• On April 13th, the President attended the virtual FedDev announcement of Sarnia-
Lambton being designated a Foreign Trade Zone.  

• On April 16th and May 18th, the President led President’s Taskforce on Immigration 
meetings with a number of community stakeholders to discuss the opportunities 
and challenges presented to Sarnia-Lambton in regards to international education 
and overall immigration. The President also met with Valerie Colasanti from the 
County of Lambton to discuss housing and homelessness issues. 

• The Innovation Institute continues to lead a collaborative cybersecurity app 
development initiative, working with representatives from CICan, Olds College in 
Alberta, Saskatchewan Polytechnic, Central Community College Nebraska, and 
Otago Polytechnic in New Zealand.  

• On April 20th, the President attended a virtual meeting wherein the results of a 
feasibility study on a hydrogen project in Sarnia-Lambton were presented. The 
President took part in a related meeting on April 26th where a group of Queen’s 
University students presented on hydrogen production, storage and use.   



 
• On April 22nd, the President attended the Post-Pandemic Workforce and Economic 

Recovery in Sarnia-Lambton Town Hall.  

• Lambton College and the City of Sarnia conducted a joint virtual announcement of 
the Sarnia Civic Lab Partnership on May 3rd. Lambton College is engaged in 
discussions with the County of Lambton on a similar formalized partnership.  

• The President attended a meeting with the Minister of Colleges and Universities to 
provide feedback on the Commercialization Mandate Policy Framework. This took 
place on May 6th. The President was similarly invited to share feedback on the 
intellectual property policy specific to the Ontario Health Data Platform on May 
18th.  

• On May 6th, the President and Mayor Mike Bradley had a meeting with the Minister 
of Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship, Minister Mendocino, on the connection 
between international education and the Sarnia-Lambton immigration Strategy.  

• The President and Vice President Academic & Student Success participated in a 
Multi-College Collaboration Leadership Team Meeting with representatives from 
Algonquin College, Northern College and Sault College. 

• On May 11th and 17th, the President, as Chair of the Governance Committee, took 
part in SLEP Board Nomination Meetings with the Sarnia-Lambton Economic 
Partnership (SLEP), and on May 25th took part in a SLEP Board meeting. SLEP has 
engaged a consulting firm to complete a Strategic Sector Analysis and Action Plan 
for Sarnia-Lambton, and the President met with one of the consultants on May 
12th to discuss the College and related sectors.    

• On May 14th, the President participated in a County of Lambton Community 
Development Corporation Board of Directors meeting.  

• The President participated in an Investment Management Committee Meeting with 
Bioindustrial Innovation Canada on May 25th, and on May 11, as Chair of BIC’s 
Governance Committee, led a policy development meeting. 

• On June 2nd, the President, Vice President Academic & Student Success and Vice 
President Research & Innovation will present Project Momentum to the Lambton 
County Council.  

 



 
 
Report From: J. McMichael-Dennis 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Subject:  GOVERNANCE 

Recommendation: That the Board of Governors approves the Governance Report and all 
decisions and motions therein, as presented.                                                                      

                                                   Signature on File 
                                      Janice McMichael-Dennis, Chair 

  
1 Programs and Services Committee 

On April 24 via email the Committee received information from the Rob 
Kardas regarding the status of the Developmental Service Worker program. 
The program’s 2021 intake will be postponed an additional year because of 
low applications. It is thought the strong attraction to the Personal Support 
Worker Program has affected the number of applications.  
 
At the May 19, 2021 meeting, the Committee approved three Program 
Advisory Committee appointments: 

• Joel Fields, Criminal Justice 

• Amy Somerville, Esthetician  

• Pierre Houle, Photography/Advanced Photography 
 
As well the Committee accepted a report regarding Micro-credentials. The 
Committee also was informed that the Financial Services – Investigation and 
Compliance, ON College Graduate Certificate and Therapeutic Recreation, 
ON College Graduate Certificate are in development and may come for an 
electronic vote in June. 
 
 
Program Triennial Reports 
Recommendation:   That the Board of Governors approves the Programs 
and Services Committee recommendation to approve the Early Childhood 
Education, Recreation Therapy and Business Management, Business – 
International Business & Business Management – Human Resource triennial 
reports. 
 
Triennial  Board Policy Review (attachment) 
Recommendation: That the Board of Governors approves the Programs and 
Services Committee recommendation to approve the reviewed and revised 
policies: 

Rob Kardas approval 

  X  For Action    X  Board of Governors 

 

     For Information    X  Open Meeting 

 
      Meeting Date  June 3rd, 2021     
 
     Agenda Item No. #11 
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Open Meeting June 3, 2021 
Governance – continued 
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• 4-014 Honorary Diploma (no changes) 

• 4-013 Quality Assurance (no changes) 

• 4-004 Program Prioritization, Revitalization and Rationalization (no 
changes) 

• 4-003 Program Advisory Committees (changes)  

• By-law 4 Advisory Council (changes) 
 

Program Proposals 
Recommendation: That the Board of Governors approves the Programs and 
Services Committee recommendation to approve the Medical Esthetics and 
Advanced Skin Care Therapies, Sports Management, Advanced Project 
Management – Environmental and Foundations of Technology and Trades 
proposals.  
 

2 Finance and Property Committee  
 
Section 28 Board Attestation (attachment): The Committee were 
informed the Chair signed the 2020 Section 28 Board Attestation 
confirming the College was in compliance with all Section 28th 
requirements.  
 

Spencer 
Dickson 

 

3 Executive Committee 
 
The Executive Committee met on May 20, 2021 to discuss the Board Officer 
Election, 2021-22 Board Annual Calendar and Schedule of Meetings, the 
2020-21 President and Board Final Goal Report, and reviewed By-Law 1 and 
By-Law 3 in regard to Governor Eligibility and Student Governor Eligibility. 
 
Recommended Revisions By-Law 1 and By-Law 3 
The Executive Committee recommends the following be included in By-Law 
3 and the By-law be amended to include language regarding online 
elections:   
 

• 2.7.1     To qualify as a candidate in a student election, a candidate 
must be a full-time student with a GPA of at least 2.4 or  a part-time 
student enrolled in at least 3 courses with a minimum GPA of 2.4. 

  
By-Law #1 was recommended to include the following new section: 
 
4.4 Eligibility Requirements of Governors 
 

4.4.1  An individual who is 18 years of age  
4.4.2  An individual who has not been declared incapable by a 
 court in Canada or in another country; 

4.4.3  An individual who is not in undischarged bankruptcy. 
 
Recommendation: That the Board of Governors approves the Board 
Executive Committee’s recommendation to approve revised By-Law 1 and 
revised By-Law 3.  
 
Triennial Board Policy Review (attachment) 
Recommendation: That the Board of Governors approves the Executive 
Committee recommendation to approve the reviewed and revised policies: 

J. McMichael-
Dennis 

approval 



 
Board of Governors 

Open Meeting June 3, 2021 
Governance – continued 

 
 

 3 

 

• 4-007 Performance Evaluation (no changes) 

• 4-012 Employee Recognition (changes) 

• 4-005 Policy on Recruitment and Selection (changes) 
 

4 Nomination Committee 
On May 13th, the process to elect an Administration Representative to the 
Board of Governors was initiated. Dave Mitton was acclaimed as the 
Administration Board of Governor Representative. 
Recommendation: That the Board of Governors appoints Dave Mitton to a 
second term of the Board of the Governors beginning September 1, 2021 
ending August 31, 2024.  
 

  

5 Board Correspondence (attachment) 
1. OPSEU Local 124 Executive Committee Letter to the Chair  

 

J.McMichael-
Dennis 

information 
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4-014 - Honorary Diplomas 
 

MOTION: 2018-17 
DATE APPROVED: September 28, 2006 

REVIEWED: April 5, 2018 

POLICY NO: 4-014 

The Board of Governors has authority to award Honorary Diploma(s) based on criteria determined by the Board. 

Policy 

The College may award one or more Honorary Diploma(s) each year. 

Annually, the President may develop a list of proposed recipients for one or more Honorary Diploma(s). The Board will screen each 
candidate against the criteria determined by the Board. 

The recipient of an Honorary Diploma must have had a unique and outstanding impact at a local, provincial, national, or global 
level. This individual’s life, in some way, will have significantly enriched the lives and careers of Lambton College’s students and 
alumni. 

The President will then contact suitable candidates to determine their willingness and ability to accept the Honorary Diploma. 

Honorary Diplomas will be presented to the recipients at College convocation ceremonies 

 



  

 

4-013 Quality Assurance |  1 
 
 

4-013 - Quality Assurance 
 

MOTION: 2018-17 
DATE APPROVED: October 21, 2005 

REVIEWED: April 5, 2018 

POLICY NO: 4-013 

Quality programs and services are a key component of the success of Lambton College. The importance of quality programs and 
services is recognized in the Strategic Plan. A quality-assurance process plays a central role in the realization of quality in all of the 
College undertakings. 

The purpose of a quality-assurance process is to ensure that the programs and services that the College provides to its students, 
clients and community are of a high and improving quality. The process will also help to ensure that the College is fulfilling its 
responsibilities as a publicly-funded institute, using its resources efficiently and effectively, and planning and budgeting wisely. 

Policy 

Lambton College will implement and continuously operate a comprehensive Quality Assurance Process. This process will be in 
compliance with the Minister’s Binding Directive, meet the requirements of the Program Quality Assurance Process Audit (PQAPA) 
and serve the quality-assurance needs of Lambton College. 

The Process will provide evidence and assurance to the Board that the College is constantly and continuously monitoring and 
improving the quality of the programs and services that it provides to its students, clients and community. 

The President will report annually to the Board on the Quality Assurance Process, its findings and the resulting changes and 
improvements. 

The following principles will direct the Quality Assurance Process. 

1. The Process will cover all programs and service functions provided in support of the programs. 

2. The Process will be continuous in nature. 

3. The Process will be objective and data-based. 

4. The Process will be efficient in order to minimize the use of College resources and avoid onerous demands on any 
department while providing the required results. 

5. The Process will be internally directed. 

1. The College will oversee the Process. 

2. Each program department will apply the Process to the programs within the department. 

3. Periodically, the department will draw on clients and external experts for assistance, a broader perspective and 
increased objectivity. 
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6. The Process, including the findings and outcomes, will be open to the College community within the usual privacy 
constraints. The Process will result in recommendations for improvements, the implementation of recommendations and 
documentation of both. 
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4-004 - Program Prioritization, Revitalization and 
Rationalization 
 

MOTION: 2018-6 

DATE APPROVED: November 27, 2003 

SUPERSEDES: Policy No. 2000-2-9 

REVIEWED: January 25, 2018 

POLICY NO: 4-004 

The Board of Governors of Lambton College directs the implementation of a program prioritization, revitalization and/or 
rationalization process in order to ensure program quality, currency and relevance. Demographic changes, new technologies, 
changes in employment patterns, and global competition require the need for program changes and the development of new 
student markets. Therefore, careful attention to on-going program assessment, enhancement and selection is necessary. The 
revitalization, suspension or cancellation of inappropriate or ineffective programs must be considered. 

The purpose of this policy is to implement a prioritization, revitalization and rationalization planning model to review program 
demand, assess program effectiveness and efficiency in meeting the needs of students and employers, ensure the quality of 
programs, achieve the best use of resources, demonstrate accountability for public resources and facilitate academic planning and 
budgeting. 

The President will establish College policy and procedures to actualize and comply with this Board policy. In addition, the President 
will ensure the College policy and procedures will be consistent with the following: 

• Supporting the strategic plan of the College  
• The provision of opportunities for our students  
• The Collective Agreements  
• The optimization of the College's academic strengths  
• The financial viability of the College  
• Employer and community needs  
• The need for specialization and differentiation  
• Program accountability measures  

The Board of Governors Programs and Services Committee will oversee this Policy and submit resulting recommendations to the 
Board of Governors. 

 



  

 

4-003 Program Advisory Committees |  1 
 
 

4-003 – Program Advisory Committees 
 

MOTION: 2003-73 

DATE APPROVED: November 27, 2003 

SUPERSEDES: Policy No. 2000-2-2, Motion 

REVIEWED: June 7, 2018 

AMENDED: Motion 2014-37 

POLICY NO: 4-003 

 

POLICY: There will be a program advisory committee (PAC) for each program or cluster of programs to advise the Board of 
Governors and the cCollege personnel.regarding the program(s) 

The Board of Governors shall appoint members to Program Advisory Committees (PACs) who that are representative of the 
employers, professions and industry sector (s) that each program serves. 

1. Terms of Reference 
1.1 The purpose of the PACs is to identify and suggest requirements for new programs and courses and to consider, review and 
suggest changes and revisions in existing programs and courses, thus ensuring programs offered by College meet the changing 
needs of the labour market. 

1.2 More particularly, PACs will offer advice regarding program learning outcomes, curriculum, facilities, experiential learning, in 
advancing capstone, clinical and field experience, co-op and work experience, placement opportunities, effectiveness of graduates, 
and community needs. 

1.3 PACs will provide an avenue to a liaison with the community for the dissemination of information about the program, the 
development of scholarships and bursaries, recruitment of students and the placement of graduates, and for the College to 
disseminate relevant information to our community members. 

1.4 PACs are advisory and not administrative or executive in nature, and are not in any way responsible for the allocation and 
utilization of College resources. 

2. Membership 

2.1 The Program Advisory Councils shall be composed of: 

1. A minimum of five members, eight members for degree programs, who are employers, specialists, professionals, 
community representatives, or recent graduates and are selected for their expertise in the discipline or field of study, 
potential as employers, links to professional associations and networks respect enjoyed in their field, and influence related 
to the purposes of the program. At least one member must be from a non-employer group. Members may be drawn from 
the local area or elsewhere in Ontario or Canada. 
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2. Up to four three students, preferably one from each year of study 
3. A minimum of one coordinator and or faculty member and the Program Dean or Associate Dean.  
4. An internal or external resource person as needed. 

Only those members as defined in (a) will have voting membership on the committee. 

2.2 The Board of Governors appoints all PAC members as defined in 2.1 (a). hereafter described as “external” members.  The other 
members, described in 2.1 (b), 2.1 (c), 2.1 (d) – hereafter described as “internal” members – shall be appointed by the program 
Dean or designate.  

 PAC members unable to attend a particular meeting may send a designate to represent them. 

2.3 The PAC members desribedfined in 2.1 (a) shall be appointed for a term not to exceed three years, which will normally 
commence on September 1st of the year in which they were appointed. The three-year term is renewable one time only. There may 
be exceptions to the six- year appointment if no replacement members are available. When a new PAC is formed, the first members 
shall commence their respective terms upon their appointment and their terms shall expire on August 31st date within the 
following three years of their appointment in rotation. Any vacancy occurring during the term of a member will be filled on a 
recommendation of the Program and Services Committee of the Lambton College Board of Governors and appointment by the 
Board. 

3. Meetings 

3.1 PACs shall meet a minimum of two times per year, preferably, one in each post-secondary term. The PAC will determine the 
need for more meetings. 

3.2 When in any academic year, an external a member, other than an ex-officio member, attends less than 50 per cent of the 
meetings of the advisory committee;, the committee may declare the membership void and replace the member. 

4. Operations 

4.1 The chairperson of a PAC for the next year will be elected annually at the last meeting of the academic year from non-college 
external members as defined in 2.1 (a). The Chair, in consultation with the Dean or, Associate Dean or Chair of the program(s), is 
responsible for formulating establishing the agendas for the committee meetings. 

4.2 The Dean’s or Associate Dean’s Academic Administrative Assistant is responsible for arranging meetings as required by the 
committee, and for ensuring that the committee membership list is current and that a copy is submitted to the Board of Governors 
office. 

4.3 Minutes shall will be kept of each committee meeting and will be distributed by the Dean’s Academic Administrative Assistant 
to each member prior to the next meeting. ItemsAreas or issues, that which require review by the Vice President, Academic & 
Student Success PA, shallould be highlighted by the Dean and sent to the Vice President, Academic & Student SuccessPA. 

4.4 The College will provide secretarial support to each PAC. 

4.5 A quorum for the purposes of voting at each meeting shall be the majority (50% or more) of the voting external PAC members. 

4.6 Electronic/distance participation is acceptable. 

5. Communications 
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5.1 When a A bi-annual program review is will be completed ofby the program representatives as part of the Quality Assurance 
process, each May/June, and it will be reviewed by the PAC in the subsequent fall semester. 

5.2 Programs that have been identified in the fall term as not meeting the criteria contained in the under the Program 
Revitalization and Rationalization Policy as requiring revitalization  will have a report prepared by the Dean and Coordinator in the 
winter term. This report will outline the enrolment, retention and graduate placement rates along with the program costing. The 
report will be presented to the Program and Services Committee of the Board of Governors.  The and the Program Advisory 
Committee will receive and review the report and comment on the revitalization of the programprogram in the subsequent fall 
semester. 

6. Orientation 

6.1 Orientation information about the college system, the role and responsibilities of PAC's, Strategic Program Directions, Key 
Performance Indicator, and Lambton College in general, will be provided to all new members of PACs by the Office of the President. 
The individual committees will conduct orientation on programs. 

7. Establishment of a New PacAC 

7.1 When the College wishes to explore the feasibility of a new program, an ad hoc Program Advisory Committee or a pre-PAC shall 
be established. The membership shall be composed of individuals selected for their expertise in the discipline or field of study, 
potential as employers, respect enjoyed in their field and influence enjoyed in their field related to the purpose of the program and 
as well as educators in the appropriate field. College resource persons will consist of the program Dean, Associate Dean or Program 
Chair, and selected faculty. 

7.2 The purpose of the ad hoc committee is to assist in the assessment provision and analysis of market research to determine of 
the need for the program and provide  solicit input regarding the proposed curriculum. Once the decision is made to proceed, a 
program proposal will be compiled by the Pprogram Ddeveloper for submission to the Program and Services Committee of the 
Board for and its recommendation to the Board of Governors. 

7.3 When a new program has been approved a new PAC will be established that can may include members from the ad hoc 
committee membership as well as new members, as appropriate. 

 



  

 

04 By-Law |  1 

 

 

04 – By-Law 
 

MOTION: 2003-73 

DATE APPROVED: November 27, 2003 

REVIEWED: June 7, 2018 

AMENDED: Motion 2018-36 

BY-LAW NO: 4 

BE IT ENACTED as a by-law of THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE LAMBTON COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS AND 

TECHNOLOGY (herein called “the Board”) for the establishment of an advisory college council as required by the Ministry Bindi ng 

Policy Directive. 

1.0 Name 

1.1  

The advisory council will be known as the Advisory Council of Lambton College, hereinafter referred to as the "Council".  

1.2 Definitions: 

College staff and students are defined as follows: 

• 1.2.1 An academic staff is a person who is employed by the Board of Governors and is a member of the faculty employee 

group as a professor, instructor or counsellor. 

• 1.2.2 A support staff is a person who is employed by the Board of Governors and is a member of the support staff employee 

group. 

• 1.2.3 A student is a person who is enrolled in a program of instruction on a full-time or part-time basis, whether it be post-

secondary or adult training. 

• 1.2.4 Learning Services Committee deals with academic issues and consists of Deans, Director of Teaching and Learning 

Commons Learning Innovation Centre, Online & Continuing Education, Centre for Educational Pathways and the 

Registrar, and is chaired by the Vice President, Academic  Senior Academic Leader/Officer. 

• 1.2.5 A school is an organizational grouping of programs and services lead by a dean. 

2.0 Goals 

2.1  

The goals of the Council are to provide advice to the President on: 

• 2.1.1 Promoting academic excellence 

• 2.1.2 Promoting communication within the College Community 

• 2.1.3 Providing a forum for staff and students to provide input to the decision-making process on academic and student 

services matters. 
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3.0 Mandate 

3.1  

The Council shall review and recommend on such issues as: 

• 3.1.1 Educational philosophy  

• 3.1.2 Course and program evaluation 

• 3.1.3 Teaching methodology and standards 

• 3.1.4 Grading and promotion policies 

• 3.1.5 Standards of student conduct and discipline 

• 3.1.6 Admission policies and practices 

• 3.1.7 Student awards and scholarships 

• 3.1.8 Academic equivalencies 

• 3.1.9 Student services 

• 3.1.10 Matters related to the Strategic Plan 

3.2  

Consistent with the consultative function of the Council, its members shall endeavour to consult and communicate with their 

constituent groups. 

4.0 Members 

4.2  

Membership The Council shall consist of up to 18 voting members as follows:  

• 4.2.1 Academic Staff – up to 6 Representatives 

• 4.2.1.1 up to 5 faculty representatives representing at least three schools 

• 4.2.1.2 up to one representative from among the counsellors 

• 4.2.2 Support Staff – up to 2 Representatives 

• 4.2.3 Students – up to 5 representatives representing at least three schools 

• 4.2.4 Learning Services Committee – up to 2 Representatives that are in addition to the representatives identified in 4.2.5 

• 4.2.5 Ex-officio Voting Members - 3 Representatives 

o 4.2.5.1 Vice President, Academic Senior Academic Leader/Officer 

o 4.2.5.2 Registrar 

o 4.2.5.3 Vice President Student Success and Campus Services 

• 4.2.6 The Chair of the Council shall be elected by the members of the Council at its first meeting, for a term of two years, 

renewable once for an additional two-year term. 

• 4.2.7 Secretarial support to the Council shall be provided by the Office of the Vice President, Academic. Senior Academic 

Leader/Officer. 

4.3 Academic Staff Selection 

• 4.3.1 By May 31 preceding the term of office, the Academic Union Local, based on 4.2.1, shall elect or name up to 5 the 

faculty representatives to the Council from each school where possible. 

4.4 Support Staff Selection 
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• 4.4.1 By May 31 preceding the term of office, the Support Staff Union Local based on 4.2.2 shall elect or name two 

members to serve on the Council. 

4.5 Student Selection 

• 4.5.1 By April 30 preceding the term of office, the Students' Administrative Council, based on 4.2.3 shall name or elect up 

to five students to serve on the Council from each school where possible.  

4.6 Administrative Staff Selection 

• 4.6.1 By May 31 preceding the term of office, the Learning Services Committee, based on 4.4.4 shall appoint up to two 

representatives. 

5.0 Terms of Office 

• 5.1 The terms of office of the Council members shall commence September 1 and continue for two years.  

• 5.2 No member representing a constituency shall serve more than four consecutive years but on the expiration of two years 

after having served on the Council, a person shall again be eligible for election or appointment for up to four years and may  

continue the same cycle until he/she is no longer employed at the College or engaged in a program of instruction. 

• 5.3 A member of the Council may resign at any time by submitting a written resignation to the Chair.  

• 5.4 Where a representative member, not having notified the Chairperson of the Council or Secretary, and is absent from 

two consecutive meetings without regrets, or three consecutive meetings, the position shall be declared vacant.  

• 5.5 If a member changes status and can no longer represent the group or constituency, the position shall be declared 

vacant. 

• 5.6 Vacancies during terms of office, however caused, shall be filled:  

o 5.6.1 By appointment by the Students' Association, Support Staff Union, Faculty Union, the Learning Services 

Committee, as appropriate for a vacancy from their respective constituencies. 

6.0 Responsibilities of Members 

• 6.1 Except for ex-officio members, participation on the Council and its committees shall be on a voluntary basis. All 

reasonable arrangements will be made to make participation on the Council as accessible as possible. 

• 6.2 Members shall participate fully in all meetings of the Council as well as on any committee to which they are named by 

the Chair. 

• 6.3 Members shall make themselves available to their constituencies and will keep their peers informed of major issues 

before the Council. 

• 6.4 Members shall regularly consult their constituencies; however, they may vote on issues as representatives, that is, they 

will reflect the views of their constituency, their individual perspective and then contribute and vote as their conscience 

dictates. 

7.0 Responsibilities of the Chair 

• 7.1 Any member may place an item on the agenda by forwarding it to the Chair two weeks prior to the next meeting.  

• 7.2 The Chair shall preside over and conduct all meetings according to conventional rules of order. In the absence of the 

Chair, the Vice President Academic  Senior Academic Leader/Officer will preside over the Council. 

• 7.3 The Chair shall notify the appropriate constituent group within five working days of any vacancy being declared. 

• 7.4 The Chair shall continue to act as a representative of their constituency group, and may vote on issues as a member of 

the Council. The Chair’s vote shall carry no additional weight. 
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8.0 Meetings 

• 8.1 The Council shall meet at least twice each fall and winter term, with the agenda, time and location to be posted in 

advance. 

• 8.2 All meetings shall be open to the college community. 

• 8.3 Fifty percent (50%) of the members plus one excluding vacancies shall constitute a quorum. 

9.0 Committees 

• 9.1 The Council may also form ad hoc committees as may be deemed necessary. Membership on such committees is 

voluntary. 

10.0 Report 

• 10.1 The Council shall issue an annual report of their activities to the President by June 30 of each year. 

11.0 

This by-law becomes effective on the date that it is passed and the pre-existing policy on Academic Council is repealed as of said 

date.  

Enacted 27th day of November, 2003, amended, June 7, 2018 

 

Brian Fairley,  Janice McMichael-Dennis, Chair 

 

Margaret Dragan Spencer Dickson, Secretary-Treasurer 



Annual Section 28 Attestation  
 

Date: June 4, 2021 
To: Minister of Colleges and Universities  
From: Janice McMichael-Dennis, Chair of Board of Governors of Lambton College  
Subject: 2020-21 Attestation of Section 28 Process  
 

 
This Memo provides our assurance that in 2020-21, Lambton College was in compliance 
with Section 28 of the Financial Administration Act (FAA) and the related processes set out 
in the Banking, Investment and Borrowing Binding Policy Directive of the Ministry of 
Colleges and Universities.  
 
Listed below are the Key Statements of Responsibility that evidence our assurance:  
 
Key Statements of Responsibility  
 

A. For transactions that are exempted from the application of Subsection 28(1) of the 
FAA under O. Reg. 376/18 and are above the threshold value as set out in the 
Banking, Investment and Borrowing Binding Operating Procedure, the college had 
fully assessed, before entering into the agreement:  
 

• The amount of the contingent liabilities;  

• The risk of the contingent liabilities occurring; and  

• Any justification for agreeing to the contingent liabilities.  
 

B. The college had ensured appropriate governance was in place to manage the 
contingent liabilities in all contracts;  
 

C. The college had limited the liabilities of the Crown and capping the college exposure 
as a provision of all contracts where possible;  
 

D. The college had sought appropriate legal advice before entering into the contracts;  
 

E. The college had provided the annual total values of its financing, operating and 
capital contracts; and  
 

F. The college had been in compliance with Subsection 28(1) of the FAA.  
 
 
 
_________________________     ________________________  
Janice McMichael-Dennis      Date 
Chair of Board of Governors  
 



 
 

BY-LAW NO. 1 
OF 

THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF 
THE LAMBTON COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY 

 
Motion: 2003-73 
Date Approved: November 27, 2003 
Reviewed: June 3rd 2021  
Amended:  Motion No. 2021-  
By-Law  No. 1 
 
A by-law relating generally to the conduct of the affairs of THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF 
THE LAMBTON COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY. 
 
BE IT ENACTED AND IT IS HEREBY ENACTED as a by-law of THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE 
LAMBTON COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY (hereinafter called the “Board”) as 
follows: 
 
 
1.0 INTERPRETATION 
 
1.1 In this by-law, the following terms shall have the indicated meanings: 
 
1.1.1 "academic staff member", " administrative staff member", "support staff member" and "student" 

shall have the same meanings as defined in the Regulations; 
 
1.1.2 "Act" shall mean the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002, as amended 

from time to time; 
 
1.1.3 "Board" shall mean the Board of Governors of the Corporation; 
 
1.1.4 “College” shall mean The Lambton College of Applied Arts and Technology 
 
1.1.5 “Corporation” shall mean the Board as a non-share corporation 
 
1.1.6 "Council" shall mean the Lieutenant Governor in Council that is designated pursuant to Ontario 

Regulation 34/03(2010) to appoint one-third of external governors.   
 
1.1.7 “Governor” shall mean a member of the Board 
 
1.1.8 "Regulations" shall mean the regulations made under the "Act"; 
 
1.1.9 "spouse" and "same sex partner" shall have the same meanings as defined in the Regulations.  
 
1.2 In these by-laws and in all other by-laws and special resolutions of the Corporation hereafter 

passed unless the context otherwise requires, words importing the singular number or the 
masculine gender shall include the plural number or the feminine gender, as the case may be, 
and vice-versa, and references to persons shall include firms and corporations. 
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2.0 HEAD OFFICE 
 
 The Head Office of the Corporation shall be located at 1457 London Road, in the City of Sarnia in 

the County of Lambton in the Province of Ontario and at such place therein as the governors may 
from time to time determine. 

 
 
3.0 SEAL  
 
 The seal, an impression whereof is stamped at the end of this by-law, shall be the corporate seal 

of the Corporation. 
 
 
4.0 BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
 
 The affairs of the Corporation shall be overseen by a Board of governors as provided by the 

Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002 (or as subsequently amended) and 
Ontario Regulation 34/03 (hereinafter referred to as “the Regulation”) and in accordance with this 
by-law, as follows: 

 
4.1 Size and Constitution of Board 
 
 The Board shall consist of seventeen (17) governors of whom:  twelve (12) governors, hereinafter 

referred to as “external” governors, shall be appointed in the manner provided in subsection 4.2 
below; four (4) additional governors, hereinafter referred to as “internal” governors, shall be 
elected as provided in subsection 4.3 below; and the President of the College shall be appointed 
by the Board pursuant to subsection 11.4.3 hereof and who shall be a voting member of the 
Board by virtue of office.  The Board shall not be improperly constituted should an internal 
stakeholder group choose not to exercise the right to elect a member. 

 
4.2 Appointment of External Governors 
 
 As per Ontario Regulation 34/03 (amended May, 2010) effective October 1, 2010 one-third of the 

external members are to be appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council (LGIC) and two-
thirds by the college board of governors. 

 
4.3 Election of Internal Governors 
 
 The internal governors shall comprise one student, one academic staff member, one 

administrative staff member, and one support staff member, each of whom shall be elected by the 
students, academic staff members, administrative staff members and support staff members, 
respectively, in accordance with the procedures established through by-law of the Board. 

 
4.4 Eligibility Requirements of Governors 
 

4.4.1  An individual who is 18 years of age  
4.4.2  An individual who has not been declared incapable by a court in Canada or in another 
 country; 

4.4.3  An individual who is not in undischarged bankruptcy. 
 
4.5        Eligibility Requirements of External Governors 
  
 No person shall be eligible for appointment as an external governor if such person is: 
 

4.5.1 a student or an employee of a college of applied arts and technology, or 
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4.5.2 a spouse or same sex partner of a student or employee of a college of applied arts and 
 technology. 

 
 
 
5.0 TERM AND VACANCIES 
 
 The length of term for governors shall be as per the Regulations.  Vacancies on the Board, 

however caused, shall be filled in the manner provided in the Regulations. 
 
5.1 Each external governor and each internal governor (other than the student governor) shall be 

appointed or elected, as applicable, for a term of 3 years; 
 
5.2 Each student governor shall be elected for a term of 1 year; 
 
5.3 Each governor shall take office on the first day of September in the year of appointment or 

election; 
 
5.4 Notwithstanding the length of the term to which an internal governor may be elected, such term 

shall terminate upon such governor ceasing to be a student, academic staff member, 
administrative staff member or support staff member, as applicable.  A student governor who 
graduates prior to the expiration of such student governor’s term may continue to serve until the 
31st day of August in such student’s year of graduation; 

 
5.5 No person shall serve as an external governor or internal governor (other than the student 

governor) for more than 6 consecutive years provided that after an absence of 2 years such 
person shall again be eligible for re-election or re-appointment, as applicable, for successive 
terms not to exceed 6 years in total; 

 
5.6 No person shall serve as the student governor for more than 4 consecutive years provided that 

after an absence of 2 years such person shall again be eligible for re-election for successive 
terms not to exceed 4 years in total. 

 
 
6.0 REMOVAL OF GOVERNOR(S) 
 
6.1 The Board may remove a governor (other than the President or an LGIC appointment) from the 

Board by a resolution of the governors (enacted pursuant to section 6.2 below) if: 
 
6.1.1 the governor has failed to attend, without leave of the Board, at least 50% of the regular meetings 

of the Board in any 12 month period or 4 successive meetings of the Board; or 
 
6.1.2 the governor has neglected or refused to participate on Board committees and/or to contribute to 

effective discussion and decision-making at the Board; or 
 
6.1.3 the governor has failed to comply with the Minister’s Binding Policy Directive on Conflict of 

Interest which is set forth in section 9 of this by-law; or 
 
6.1.4 the governor has failed to maintain the confidentiality of any and all information, discussions, or 

proceedings at in-camera sessions of the Board; or 
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6.1.5 the governor has failed to observe and perform the governor’s fiduciary duty owed to the 
Corporation in that the governor has not acted with honesty, in good faith and in the best interests 
of the Board; or 

 
6.1.6 the governor has, in the opinion of the Board, committed one of the following grounds of 

misconduct and in consequence would, if such governor were to continue as a member of the 
Board, adversely affect the image and/or operations of the Board or of Lambton: 

 
6.1.6.1  harassment (including activities that would constitute harassment under College directives); 
 
6.1.6.2  violence (including activities that would constitute violence under College directives); 
 
6.1.6.3  conviction of a criminal offence; 
 
6.1.6.4  conduct unbecoming of a member of the Board, including but not limited to improper use of 

authority or position, improper use of privileged or confidential information, conduct that is 
deemed to be detrimental to, or generally contrary to the mission and best interests of the 
Corporation; 

 
6.1.6.5  discrimination as defined under the Ontario Human Rights Code (including activities that would 

constitute discrimination under College directives). 
 
6.2 Prior to the Board voting to remove a governor (the “Subject Governor”), the Chair or the Vice-

Chairs are to discuss the matter with the Subject Governor to explain why the removal is being 
considered and to seek a satisfactory explanation of or solution to the alleged grounds for 
removal (the “Grounds”).  If the discussions do not result in a satisfactory explanation or solution, 
the matter is to be brought to the Board in an in-camera session, and the Board is to determine 
by resolution, passed by at least two-thirds of the votes cast, whether the Subject Governor is to 
be removed.  The notice for the in-camera session is to specify the intention to pass a resolution 
removing the Subject Governor and the Grounds therefore.  The Subject Governor is to be given 
an opportunity to respond to the Grounds by addressing the Board at the in-camera session, but 
is to refrain from voting.  The Subject Governor is to be clearly notified of the final consideration 
and decision of the Board and any action that will be taken. 

 
6.3 Any person who is removed as a governor from the Board may request the Board Executive 

Committee to review the decision to remove the person. The Executive Committee shall appoint 
an independent arbitrator to review the decision. As provided in section 6 of the Ontario 
Regulation 34/03 the arbitrator review shall: 

 i) only relate to the issues of whether the reasons for the removal and the procedure followed in 
removing a member were in compliance with the by-law made under clause 6.1 

 ii) not include a review of whether the decision of the board was correct; and 
iii) ensure that the chair of the board and the president of the college sign a written attestation 
that the removal process was carried out in accordance with the by-law. O. Reg. 169/10, s. 3.  

 
7.0 REMUNERATION OF GOVERNORS 
 
7.1 The governors of the Corporation shall serve without remuneration and governors shall not 

directly or indirectly receive any gain from their position.  Governors may be paid reasonable 
travel and living expenses incurred by them in the performance of their duties. 

 
7.2 The provisions of section 7.1 shall apply equally to all members of committees and 

subcommittees of the Board. 
 
8.0 PROTECTION OF GOVERNORS AND OFFICERS OF THE CORPORATION 
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8.1 Indemnification by the Board 
  
 Every governor and officer of the Board, and his or her heirs, estate trustees, and assigns and 

effects, respectively, shall be indemnified and saved harmless out of the funds of the Board, from 
and against: 

 
8.1.1 all costs, charges and expenses whatsoever that he or she sustains or incurs in or about any 

action, suit or proceeding that is brought, commenced or prosecuted against him or her, for or in 
respect of any act, deed, matter or thing whatsoever, made, done or permitted by such governor 
or officer, in or about the proper execution of the duties of his or her office; and, 

 
8.1.2 all other costs, charges and expenses that he or she sustains or incurs in or about or in relation to 

the affairs thereof, except such costs, charges or expenses as are occasioned by such governor’s 
or officer’s own willful neglect or default. 

8.2 No governor or officer of the Corporation shall be liable for the acts, receipts, neglects or defaults 
of any other governor or officer or employee or for joining in any receipt or act for conformity or for 
any loss, damage or expense happening to the Board through the insufficiency or deficiency of 
title to any property acquired by Lambton for or on behalf of Lambton or for the insufficiency or 
deficiency of any security in or upon which any of the moneys of or belonging to the Board shall 
be placed out or invested or for any loss or damage arising from the bankruptcy, insolvency or 
tortuous act of any person, firm or corporation with whom or which any moneys, securities or 
effects shall be lodged or deposited or for any other loss, damage or misfortune whatever which 
may happen in the execution of the duties of such governor’s or officer’s respective office or trust 
or in relation thereto unless the same shall happen by or through such governor’s or officer’s own 
wrongful and willful act or through such governor’s or officer’s own wrongful and willful neglect or 
default. 

 
8.3 The governors of the Board shall not be under any duty or responsibility in respect of any 

contract, act or transaction whether or not made, done or entered into in the name or on behalf of 
the Board except such as shall have been submitted to and authorized or approved by the Board. 

 
8.4 If any governor or officer of the Corporation shall be employed by or shall perform services for the 

Board otherwise than as a governor or officer or shall be a member of a firm or a shareholder, 
director or officer of a company which is employed by or performs services for the Board, the fact 
of his or her being a governor or officer of the Corporation shall not disentitle such governor or 
officer or such firm or company, as the case may be, from receiving proper remuneration for such 
services. 

 
9.0 DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

COMPLIANCE 
 
 In accordance with the Minister’s Binding Policy Directive, the Chair, or in the absence of the 

Chair, the Vice-Chair, shall at the beginning of each meeting of the Board or any Committee, 
request a declaration of any conflict of interest by those governors present. 

 
9.1 Every governor of the Board who is in any way directly or indirectly interested in a proposed 

contract or a contract with the Corporation shall declare the nature of their interest at a meeting of 
the Board or any committee of the Board.  In the case of a proposed contract, the declaration 
required by this section shall be made at the meeting of the Board or any committee of the Board 
at which the question of entering into the contract is first taken into consideration.  If the governor 
is not present at that meeting and is interested in the contract, the governor must declare a 
conflict at the next meeting of the Board that the governor attends.   

 



OPERATING BY-LAW NO. 1   Reviewed June 3, 2021 
LAMBTON COLLEGE  Motion 2021-  
BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 

Page 6 

9.2 In a case where the governor becomes interested in a contract after it is made, the declaration 
shall be made at the first meeting of the Board held after he or she becomes so interested.   

 
9.3 For the purposes of this section, a general notice given to the governors of the Board by a 

governor to the effect that he or she is a shareholder of or otherwise interested in any other 
company, or is a member of a specified firm and is to be regarded as interested in any contract 
made with such other company or firm, shall be deemed to be a sufficient declaration of interest 
in relation to a contract so made, but no such notice is effective unless it is given at the meeting 
of the Board at which the matter is considered, or the governor takes reasonable steps to ensure 
that it is brought up and read at the next meeting of the Board after it is given.  

  
9.4 If a governor has made a declaration of his or her interest in a proposed contract or contracts in 

compliance with this section and has not voted in respect of the contract, the governor is not 
accountable to the Board or to any of its members or creditors for any profit realized from the 
contract, and the contract is not voidable by reason of the holding of that office or of the fiduciary 
relationship established.   

 
9.5 Notwithstanding anything in this section, a governor is not accountable to the Board or to any of 

its members or creditors for any profit realized from such contract and the contract is not voidable 
if it is confirmed by a majority of the votes cast at a general meeting of the Board duly called for 
that purpose and if the governor’s interest in the contract is declared in the notice calling the 
meeting.   

 
9.6 Any governor of the Board who declares a conflict of interest on a matter to be discussed during 

an in-camera meeting shall leave the meeting room while that subject is being discussed and 
voted upon, and shall not discuss, lobby or solicit on that subject. 

 
9.7 The Secretary-Treasurer shall record in the Minutes of the meeting of the Board or any 

Committee the conflict of interest so declared on the part of any governor and, if relevant, shall 
record that the governor withdrew from the discussion and did not vote. 

 
9.8 Notwithstanding anything in this section, the Board shall have a conflict of interest policy and 

procedures and governors are required to adhere to such policy and procedures. 
 
 
10.0 FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
 Unless otherwise ordered by the Board of Governors, the fiscal year of the Corporation shall 

terminate on the 31st day of March in each year. 
 
 
11.0 OFFICERS OF THE BOARD 
 
11.1 Officers 
 
 There shall be a Chair, a 1st Vice-Chair, a 2nd Vice-Chair, the President of the College, a 

Secretary -Treasurer, and such other officers as the Board may determine by resolution from time 
to time.  The Chair and Vice-Chairs shall be external governors of the Board.  The other officers 
of the Corporation (excepting the President who is a member of the Board by virtue of office) 
need not be members of the Board. 

 
11.2 Appointment 
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 At the May or June meeting of the Board each year, the Board shall elect from among its external 
members, a Chair and two Vice-Chairs.  Following their election by resolution of the Board, the 
Chair and Vice-Chairs will assume their responsibilities on the 1st of September each year.  If the 
Board shall fail to elect any or all such officers by September 1st, the incumbents for whom no 
replacements have been appointed shall continue in office until their successors are appointed 
except in the case of a Chair or Vice-Chair whose term as governor has expired. 

 
 
11.3 Removal 
 
 All Officers, in the absence of agreement to the contrary, shall be subject to removal from that 

office of the Board by resolution of the Board at any time with or without cause. 
 
11.4 Duties of Officers 
 
 The duties of the Officers are as follows: 
 
11.4.1 Chair 
 

The Chair shall be elected annually and shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the Board.  
The Chair shall also be charged with the central management and supervision of the affairs and 
operation of the Board.  The Chair shall, together with the Secretary-Treasurer or other officer 
appointed for the purpose, sign all by-laws of the Board; and shall sign such contracts, 
documents or instruments in writing as require Board signature.  The Chair shall also have such 
other powers and duties as may from time to time be assigned by the Board or as are incidental 
to the Chair and shall interpret the resolutions of the Board and the intent of the By-laws.  The 
Chair is the official spokesperson for the Board and may delegate that duty from time to time. 

 
11.4.2 Vice-Chairs 
 
 The Vice-Chairs shall be elected annually and shall have such powers and perform such duties 

as may be assigned by the Board, and in the absence or inability to act of the Chair, the 1st Vice-
Chair, or in the absence or inability to act of the 1st Vice-Chair, the 2nd Vice-Chair, shall perform 
all the duties and have all the powers of the Chair. 

 
11.4.3 President 
 
 The Board shall appoint a President for such term as the Board may consider appropriate from 

time to time and hereby delegates to the President such authority to manage and direct the 
business and affairs of the College, except such matters and duties as by law must be transacted 
or performed by the Board, and further to employ and discharge agents and employees of 
Lambton College as the President may from time to time decide.  The President shall conform to 
all lawful orders made by the Board and/or by the Chair thereof and shall at all reasonable times 
give to the governors or any of them all information they may require regarding the affairs of the 
Corporation and the College. 

 
11.4.4 Secretary-Treasurer 
 
 The Secretary-Treasurer shall be the vice-president responsible for the Corporation’s finances 

unless the Board shall otherwise determine in which event the Secretary-Treasurer shall be 
appointed annually.  The Secretary-Treasurer has no voting authority.  The Secretary-Treasurer 
shall: 

 

• be ex-officio clerk of the Board; 
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• attend all meetings of the Board and record, or cause to be recorded, all facts and minutes of 
all proceedings in the books kept for that purpose; 

 

• give or cause to be given, all notices required to be given to governors and to the public; 
 

• be the custodian of the corporate seal of the Board and of all books, papers, records, 
correspondence, contracts and other documents belonging to the Board which shall be 
delivered up only when authorized by a resolution of the Board; 

 

• in accordance with regulations and policy directives made under the Ontario Colleges of 
Applied Arts and Technology  Act, 2002 as may be amended from time to time and any other 
applicable statute or regulation, keep full and accurate accounts of all receipts and 
disbursements of the Corporation in proper books of account; 

 

• deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation 
in such banks as may from time to time be designated by the Board; 

 

• disburse the funds of the Corporation under the direction of the Board, taking proper 
vouchers therefore; 

 

• provide whenever required by the Board an account of the financial position of the 
Corporation; 

 

• co-operate with the auditors appointed by the Board during any audit of the accounts of the 
Corporation; and, 

 

• perform such other duties as may from time to time be determined by the Board. 
 
11.4.5 Other Officers 
 
 The duties of all other Officers of the Corporation shall, subject to the provisions of any applicable 

statute or regulation, be such as the terms of their engagement call for or the Board or the 
President require of them. 

 
11.5 Vacancies 
 
 If the office of the Chair, 1st Vice-Chair or 2nd Vice-Chair, or one or more of them, shall become 

vacant by any reason, the Board shall elect one of the external governors to fill such vacancy. 
 
11.5.1 If the office of the Secretary-Treasurer or President, or one or more of them, shall become 

vacant, such vacancy shall be filled as the Board may appoint. 
 
11.6 Delegation of Duties of Officers 
 
 In the case of the absence or inability to act of the Chair, a Vice-Chair or another Officer of the 

Board or for any other reason that the governors may deem sufficient, the governors may 
delegate all or any of the powers of such Officer to any other Officer or to any external governor 
for the time being. 

 
 
12.0 MEETINGS  
 
 Except as required to the contrary by the Regulations: 
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12.1 Annual and General Meeting Dates 
 
 The Board may appoint a day or days in any month or months for regular meetings of its 

members at a prescribed hour, and in respect of such regular meetings, except as hereinafter 
specifically set forth, no notice need be given.  The annual general meeting shall be the meeting 
at which the audited financial statements are received.  The Board may consider and transact any 
business either special or general without any notice thereof at any meeting of the Board. 

 
12.2 Quorum 
 
 Not less than 50% of the total Board membership plus 1 as defined in 4.1 shall form a quorum for 

the transaction of business.  No business shall be transacted at any meeting unless the requisite 
quorum shall be present at the commencement of such business. 

 
12.3 A governor participating in discussions at a meeting of the Board and/or Committee by 

teleconference or videoconference shall be deemed as in attendance for quorum purposes. 
 
12.4 A governor who has declared or is found to be in conflict of interest with respect to an agenda 

item, but was present at the beginning of the meeting, may be counted to determine the presence 
of a quorum  

 
12.4.1 Notwithstanding 12.4, no less than 50% of the total Board membership as defined in 4.1 must be 

present and eligible to vote in order for the Board to maintain quorum. 
 
12.5 Special Meetings 
 

Any special general meeting of the members of the Board may be formally called by the Chair, 
the Vice-Chair(s), the President or by the Secretary-Treasurer on the direction of the Chair or of 
the  Vice-Chair (s), or by any four voting members of the Board. 

 
12.6 Location 
 

The meetings of the members of the Board shall be held at the Head Office, or at such other 
place or places as the Board may from time to time determine. 

 
12.7 In-camera Meetings 
 

In-camera Meetings to consider matters determined by the Board of Governors to be confidential 
to the Board, or otherwise permitted or required by the regulations to be held in-camera, shall be 
held either before or after each regular meeting of the Board as shall from time to time be 
determined by the Board, or at such other time or times as may be determined by the person or 
persons calling the meeting.  Without limiting the foregoing, matters relating to individual 
personnel decisions, general litigation, purchase or selling of real property, shall be discussed in-
camera. 

 
12.8 Notice 
 
 Except for regularly scheduled meetings, which shall require no notice other than as set out 

above, notice of meetings of the Board be delivered or telephoned to each member of the Board 
not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the meeting is to take place or shall be mailed to each 
member of the Board not less than five (5) days before the meeting is to take place.  Regularly 
scheduled meetings of the Board shall be published annually. 
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12.8.1 No error or omission in giving notice of any annual or general meeting or any adjourned meeting, 
whether annual or general, to the members of the Board shall invalidate such meeting or make 
void any proceedings taken thereat and any members may at any time waive notice of any such 
meeting and may ratify, approve and confirm any or all proceedings taken or had thereat. 

 
12.9 Minutes of Meetings 
 
 The minutes of each Board meeting shall be approved at the following meeting and confirmed 

under the signature of the Chair. 
 
12.10 Adjournment / Recommence 
 
 Any meeting of the members of the Board may be adjourned and recommenced at a later date 

without prior notice. 
 
12.11 Voting 
 
12.11.1 Except for votes to amend or adopt by-laws, every question submitted to any meeting of 

members of the Board shall be decided by a majority of votes given by the members present in 
person or attending by telephone or videoconference, who shall each be entitled to one vote.  In 
the case of an equality of votes, the motion shall be lost.  At any meeting, unless a poll is 
demanded, a declaration of the Chair of the meeting that a resolution has been carried, or carried 
unanimously, or by a particular majority, or lost or not carried by a particular majority, and an 
entry to that effect in the minutes of the meeting of the Board of Governors shall be conclusive 
evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of votes recorded in favour of or 
against the motion. 

 
12.11.2 Votes to amend or adopt by-laws shall require a two-thirds majority. 
 
12.12 Chair 
 
 In the absence of the Chair, the 1st Vice-Chair shall chair the meeting.  In the absence of the 

Chair and the 1st Vice-Chair of the Board of Governors, the 2nd Vice-Chair shall chair the meeting.  
In the 2nd Vice-Chair’s absence, the members at any meeting of members shall choose one of 
their voting members to chair the meeting. 

 
13.0 EXECUTION OF DOCUMENTS 
 

13.1 All cheques, drafts or orders for the payment of money and all notes and acceptances and bills of 

exchange shall be signed by such officers or person or persons, whether or not officers of the 

College, and in such manner as the Board may from time to time designate by resolution. 

 

13.2 Contracts, Documents, etc. or Instruments in Writing:  Contracts, documents, or instruments in 

writing required to be signed by the Board may be signed by any two of the Chair, the Vice-

Chairs, President (or Secretary-Treasurer in the absence of the President), and all contracts, 

documents or instruments in writing so signed shall be binding upon the Board without any further 

authorization or formality.  The Board is authorized from time to time by resolution to appoint any 

officer or officers or any person or persons on behalf of the Board either to sign contracts, 

documents or instruments in writing generally or to sign specific contracts, documents or 

instruments in writing. 

 

13.2.1 The corporate seal of the Board may, when required, be affixed to contracts, documents or 

instruments in writing signed as aforesaid or by any officer or officers, person or persons, 

appointed as aforesaid by resolution of the Board. 
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13.2.2 The term "contracts, documents or instruments in writing" as used herein shall include deeds, 

mortgages, hypothecs, charges, conveyances, transfers and assignments of shares, bonds, 
debentures or other securities and all paper writings. 

 

13.2.3 In particular, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any two of the Chair, the Vice-Chairs, 

President, or the Secretary-Treasurer in the absence of the President, are authorized to sell, 

assign, transfer, exchange, convert or convey any and all shares, bonds, debentures, rights, 

warrants or other securities owned by or registered in the name of the Board in its individual 

capacity or any other capacity or as trustee or otherwise and to sign and execute (under the 

corporate seal of the Corporation or otherwise) all assignments, transfers, conveyances, powers 

of attorney and other instruments that may be necessary for the purpose of selling, assigning, 

transferring, exchanging, converting or conveying any such shares, bonds, debentures, rights, 

warrants or other securities. 

 

13.2.4 Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary contained in the by-laws of the Corporation, the 

Board may at any time by resolution direct the manner in which, and the person or persons by 

whom, any particular instrument, contract or obligations of the Board may or shall be executed. 

 

14.0 BOOKS AND RECORDS 

 

 The Board shall ensure that all necessary books and records of the Corporation, required by the 

by-laws of the Corporation or by any applicable statute or law, are regularly and properly kept. 

 

14.1 Without limiting the generality of section 14.0 above, the Board shall keep minutes and records of 

its proceedings that accurately reflect the proceedings of the Board.  Approved minutes of open 

meetings shall be available to the public. 

 

14.2 The By-laws of the Corporation shall be open to examination by the public during normal office 

hours of Lambton College and whenever possible shall be available to the public at no charge on 

Lambton College’s website. 

 

15.0 AUDITORS AND REPORTING 

 

 The Board shall appoint an auditor licensed under the Public Accountancy Act who shall be 

instructed to prepare for submission to the Minister and any other agencies as required by 

legislation, audited financial statement(s) for the preceding year and other reports as required.   

 

15.1 The President shall abstain from voting on all matters related to audited financial statements and 

reports. 

 

16.0 POWERS 

 

 The Board shall administer the affairs of the Corporation in all things and make or cause to be 

made for the Corporation in its name any kind of contract which the Corporation may lawfully 

enter into and, save as hereinafter provided, generally may exercise all such powers and do all 

such other acts and things as the Corporation is authorized to exercise and do, as provided by 

any applicable statute, law or regulation. 

 

16.1 The Board of Governors is expressly empowered from time to time to purchase, lease or 

otherwise acquire, alienate, sell, exchange, or otherwise dispose of, shares, stocks, rights, 

warrants, options and other securities, lands, buildings, and other property movable or 
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immovable, real or personal, or any right or interest therein owned by the Board for such 

consideration and upon such terms and conditions as it may deem advisable, without the written 

approval of the Minister except that use of the proceeds from sale or encumbrance of real 

property acquired with provincial funds will continue to require the approval of the Minister.  

 

16.2 The Board shall have the power to set policies.  

 

16.3 The Board shall establish the process for the selection of the President. The Board shall appoint 

the President, establish compensation, delegate responsibility for the performance and operation 

of Lambton College, and evaluate the President’s performance. 

 

17.0 COMMITTEES 

 

 In addition to the committees hereinafter specifically provided for and the Advisory Committees 

for each program of instruction required by the regulations, the Board may, from time to time, 

appoint standing and ad hoc committees consisting of such persons as may from time to time be 

appointed members thereof by the Board, to act in such capacity as the Board may determine in 

connection with the particular field of activity referred to each of such committees.  The members 

of all committees shall hold office during the pleasure of the Board. 

 

17.1 The Board may fill any vacancies occurring from time to time in such committees and, except for 

committees required by the regulations, might abolish and from time to time reappoint any such 

committee. 

 

17.2 If required by the Board, minutes of the proceedings of any such committee shall be kept in a 

book or books for that purpose, which shall always be open for the inspection of any member of 

the Board.  The minutes of each meeting of any such committee shall be approved at the 

following committee meeting and confirmed under the signature of the Chair of the meeting. 

 

17.3 Unless otherwise determined by the Board, quorum for any such committee is a majority of the 

committee members.  Questions arising at any meeting of a committee shall be decided by a 

majority of members and in the case of an equality of votes, the motion shall be lost.  A governor 

participating in a meeting via teleconference or videoconference shall be deemed as in 

attendance for quorum purposes. 

 

 

18.0 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

 

 The Executive Committee established by resolution of the Board of Governors is hereby 

confirmed and continued to advise and assist the governors in carrying on the affairs of the 

Board. 

 

18.1 The responsibilities of the Executive Committee are: 

 

18.1.1 To receive, evaluate and recommend to the Board appropriate action on any matter referred to 

the Committee by the Board or the President. 

 

18.1.2 During intervals between regular meetings of the Board, to take such action as the Committee 

deems necessary upon significant matters that cannot reasonably be delayed until the next 

scheduled meeting of the Board, and when a special Board meeting is not possible or not 

deemed necessary, and further, to report such action to the Board not later than the date of the 

next scheduled meeting of the Board. 
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18.1.3 Ratification of the actions of the Executive Committee shall be sought from the Board at the next 

scheduled meeting of the Board or at such other meeting of the Board duly called. 

 

18.2 The Executive Committee shall be composed of the Chair, 1st Vice-Chair, 2nd Vice-Chair, and the 

President.  The Chair shall be authorized to appoint other governors/senior officers of the 

Corporation to a total of seven members. 

 

19.0 FINANCE & PROPERTY COMMITTEE 

 

 The Finance & Property Committee heretofore established by resolution of the Board, shall 

advise and assist the Board of Governors in carrying out the affairs of the Board in connection 

with matters set forth below, and shall ensure the sound financial management of the Corporation 

by making sure that financial safeguards are well established and maintained.   

 

19.1 The responsibilities of the Finance and Property Committee are: 

 

19.1.1 To review proposed operating and capital budgets and the rationale thereof, and upon 

acceptance, recommend same to the Board. 

 

19.1.2 To review and monitor financial matters (reports and performance) opposite the approved 

budgets (operating and capital), and ensure timely reporting to the Board on deemed significant 

deviations (real or anticipated), and recommended corrective actions. 

 

19.1.3 To review all matters concerning the Corporation‘s audited financial reports and financial 

statements, including recommending to the Board, the appointment of the auditors who shall be 

licensed under the Public Accountancy Act, to audit the accounts and transactions of the 

Corporation by June 30th of each year. 

 

19.1.4 To recommend to the Board any operating or capital expenditures in excess of the Board-

approved budgets (including the contingency fund). 

 

19.1.5 To ensure appropriate asset protection and loss prevention provisions are in place and reviewed 

regularly (annually).  This includes maintenance, fire protection, security, and insurance. 

 

19.1.6 To review and recommend to the Board and where required by Regulation, to the Minister, the 

acquisition or disposition of any Corporation real property (land, buildings). 

 

19.1.7 To recommend to the Board an Investment Policy for any surplus or reserve funds for the 

Corporation within the limits of appropriate legislation. 

 

19.1.8 To ensure that proper records and books of account are kept for safekeeping. 

 

19.2 The Finance and Property Committee will consist of at least five (5) Board members, the majority 

of whom shall be external members.  The Committee shall include the Chair of the Board, a Vice-

Chair of the Board who shall chair the Committee, the President and other Board members 

appointed by the Chair.  In addition, the Committee shall include the Secretary-Treasurer of the 

Board, who shall be a non-voting member. 

 

19.3 The Committee shall meet at least four (4) times during the period from September to June, or 

upon call of the Chair, and shall ensure that proper minutes are kept and available to the Board. 
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19.3.1 A quorum shall consist of a majority of Committee members, providing that the majority of 

Committee members in attendance are external governors.   

 

19.3.2 Unless otherwise designated by the Chair, the meetings shall be in-camera. 

 

 

20.0 PROGRAMS AND SERVICES COMMITTEE 

 

 The Programs and Services Committee heretofore established by resolution of the Board shall 

advise and assist the governors in carrying on the affairs of the College in connection with 

matters that pertain to academic programs and student services. 

 

20.1 The responsibilities of the Programs and Services Committee are: 

 

20.1.1 Make recommendations to the Board on matters related to the establishment, delivery, or 

continuance of programs and academic services provided by the College and on appointment of 

members to Program Advisory Committees. 

 

20.1.2 Consider recommendations and advice referred to the Committee from program advisory 

committees regarding programs of instruction and the introduction of new programs of instruction 

and ensure the College is providing relevant, high quality, accountable, and accessible education 

and training that fulfills the Board’s Strategic Plan. 

 

20.1.3 Based on Ministry guidelines for Key Performance Indicators (KPI), monitor the assessment of 

programs and student services against KPI standards and ensure progress towards 

improvement. 

 

20.1.4 Based on the Program Revitalization and Rationalization Policy, monitor all programs against the 

criteria outlined and make recommendations to the Board with respect to revitalization or 

suspension of certain programs when criteria is not being met. 

 

20.1.5 Review any specific issue referred to the Committee by the Board, and make recommendations 

to the Board as soon as possible. 

 

20.2 The Programs and Services Committee will consist of at least five (5) Board members, the 

majority of whom shall be external members.  The committee shall include the Chair of the Board, 

a Vice-Chair of the Board who shall chair the Committee, the President, an internal governor, and 

other members appointed by the Chair. 

 

20.3 The Programs and Services Committee shall hold a minimum of four (4) meetings during each 

academic year and shall ensure that proper minutes are kept and available to the Board. 

 

20.3.1 A quorum shall consist of a majority of Committee members with voting privileges. 

 

20.3.2 Unless otherwise designated by the Chair, the meetings shall be in-camera. 

 

 

21.0 NOMINATION COMMITTEE 

 

 The Nomination Committee heretofore established by resolution of the Board shall advise and 

assist the governors in a process to select candidates for membership vacancies that arise.  The 

membership of the committee should consist of three Governors.  When the committee is 



OPERATING BY-LAW NO. 1   Reviewed June 3, 2021 
LAMBTON COLLEGE  Motion 2021-  
BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 

Page 15 

interviewing a replacement from the same organization, the member will excuse him or herself 

from the interview process with a declared conflict of interest.    

 

21.1 The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are: 

 

a. Develop the annual candidate search profile and process. 

b. Seek candidates for the Board using means including advertising in local media and on the 

       College’s website and require all candidates to complete an application form. 

 In the event that no qualified applicant applies the committee will recruit from that sector. 

c. Request a volunteer from the Lambton College Indigenous Education Council as per the 

Council’s Terms of Reference when appointing an Indigenous representative to the Board 

of Governors.  

d. Conduct structured interviews with selected candidates. 

e. The principle governing the selection of nominees shall be based on merit. and the 

following criteria: 

i. Nominees will reflect diversity in relevant backgrounds and the Board’s Economic 

Sector Matrix 

ii. Nominees will be candidates demonstrating the skills and knowledge necessary to 

support the strategic directions of the College 

iii. Nominees will be candidates committed to the principles and values of public service 

iv. Nominees should as much as possible reflect the Board’s Economic Sector Matrix, 

recognizing the above criteria are the priority 

f. Report to the Board on work-in-progress regarding the status of potential candidates. 

g. Prepare a final report on nominations for the approval of the Board  

  

 

22.0 EXECUTIVE PERFORMANCE AND COMPENSATION COMMITTEE  

 

 The Executive Performance and Compensation Committee heretofore established by resolution 

of the Board will advise and assist the governors in matters that pertain to regular performance 

assessments of the president. 

 

22.1 The Executive Performance and Compensation Committee will have a chair appointed by the 

Board and at least two other board members, one of whom should be the Chair of the Board. 
 
22.2 The Executive Performance and Compensation Committee shall oversee and conduct the 

evaluation process as per the Policy for Presidential Evaluation Policy No. 2-001 and the 

Lambton College President and CEO Evaluation Form. 

 
 
22.3 The Executive Compensation Committee may develop other evaluation tools and/or processes in 

consultation with the president and subject to approval by the Board. 
 
 

23.0 CONFLICT 

 

23.1 The Board having been established pursuant to the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and 

Technology Act 2002, this by-law is in addition to the said Act and the Regulations and the 

Minister’s Binding Policy Directives made thereunder.  Should any provision in this by-law or any 

further by-laws enacted by the Board conflict with the said Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and 

Technology Act 2002, Regulations and Minister’s Binding Policy Directives, the conflicting 
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provision shall be ineffective to the extent of such conflict without invalidating the remaining 

provisions in the said by-laws. 

 

23.2 The Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act 2002 identifies each college as a 

Crown agency and the Board as a corporation without share capital.  As such, the Board is 

subject to the provisions of the Corporations Act, except where limited by the Ontario Colleges of 

Applied Arts and Technology Act 2002, its Regulations, and the Minister’s Binding Policy 

Directives.  The Board is also subject to provincial legislation such as, but not limited to, the 

Financial Administration Act, Ombudsman Act and Freedom of Information and Protection of 

Privacy Act and any other provincial and federal legislation and regulations applicable to non-

share corporations and agencies of the Crown.  Should any provision in this by-law or any further 

by-laws enacted by the Board conflict with any legislation or regulations judged to be applicable 

to the Board, the conflicting provision shall be ineffective to the extent of such conflict without 

invalidating the remaining provisions in the said by-laws. 

 

24.0 This by-law becomes effective on the date that it is passed and the pre-existing by-law (s) relating 

to the conduct of the affairs of the Board are repealed as of said date. 

 

Amended and Approved by the Board of Governors of the Lambton College of Applied Arts and 

Technology, 

 

this 3rd day of    June 2021. 

 

  

 

 

 

Original signed by:                                                                  Original signed by:  

  

____________________________________  ___________________________________ 

Janice McMichael-Dennis, Chair    Spencer Dickson, Secretary-Treasurer 
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03 – By-Law 
 

MOTION: 2003-73 
DATE APPROVED: November 27, 2003 

REVIEWED: April 8, 2021 

AMENDED: Changes Motion No. 

BY-LAW: No. 3 

BE IT ENACTED as a By-law of The Board of Governors of The Lambton College of Applied Arts and Technology (hereinafter 
called the “Board”) for the Election of Representatives of College Constituent Groups to the Board of Governors as follows: 

1.0 Policy 

• 1.1 In accordance with the Regulations emanating from the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act 2002, all 
members of the constituent groups of the College (Academic, Administrative, Student and Support Staff) shall have an 
opportunity for effective participation in the nomination and election process for membership on the Board. 

• 1.2 In support of this policy the following procedures have been developed after consultation with representatives of the 
constituent groups. 

2.0 Definition 

In this By-law, the following terms shall have the indicated meanings: 

There are four constituent groups at Lambton: 

• 2.1 “Academic staff” member means a person who is employed by the Board of Governors as a teacher, counsellor or 
librarian; 

• 2.2 “Administrative staff” member means a person who is employed by the Board of Governors and who is not an academic 
staff member, a support staff member or a student; 

• 2.3 “Board of Governors” means the members of the Board of Governors of The Lambton College of Applied Arts and 
Technology; 

• 2.4 “College” means The Lambton College of Applied Arts and Technology; 
• 2.5 “Course” means a credit course in a program of instruction; 
• 2.6 “Program of Instruction” means a group of related credit courses leading to a diploma, certificate, applied degree or 

other accreditation awarded by the Board; 
• 2.7 “Student” means a person who is enrolled in a course or program of instruction in a college;   

2.7.1     To qualify as a candidate in a student election, a candidate must be a full-time student with a GPA of at least 
2.4 or  a part-time student enrolled in at least 3 courses with a minimum GPA of 2.4. 

 
• 2.8 “Support Staff” member means a person who is employed by the Board of Governors as a member of the office, clerical, 

technical, health care, maintenance, building service, shipping, transportation, cafeteria or nursery staff. 

3.0 Electoral Committee 
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• 3.1 The Board has established an Electoral Committee to ensure the observance of this policy and the implementation of 
the Regulation. The Electoral Committee may include non-Governor committee members. 

• 3.2 The Electoral Committee is composed of the presidents of: 
o Students Administrative Council  
o Support Staff Local  
o Academic Employees Local   
o Administrative Staff Association.  
o Executive Assistant to the Board of Governors  

• 3.3 The presidents may each designate a member of their respective constituent groups to replace them on the Electoral 
Committee. 

• 3.4 In addition, the Board will appoint the President of the College, or his/her designate, as Chair of the Electoral 
Committee. 

• 3.5 The Electoral Committee reports to the Chair of the Board of Governors. 
• 3.6 The Electoral Committee recognizes the rights of part-time members of the constituent groups as defined in the 

Regulation and will endeavour to ensure their participation in the electoral process. 
• 3.7 The members of the Electoral Committee recognize that should a conflict of interest arise, the affected member will 

declare such conflict, propose a replacement and withdraw from participation on the Committee. 

4.0 Procedure - Nomination Process 

• 4.1 The Electoral Committee will supervise a call for nominations addressed to the specific constituency group. 
• 4.2 The information sent to each group will provide details of: 

o the nomination/election process (including dates and deadlines) 
o the Regulation in summary form 
o Board of Governor Roles and Responsibilities 

• 4.3 The Electoral Committee will distribute a call for nominations. The call will be addressed also to the part-time 
members of the constituent groups. 

• 4.4 The call for nominations will inform the constituent group where the information in section 4.2 above can be obtained. 
• 4.5 Nominations must be supported by at least five (5) nominators for each nominee of the constituent groups. 
• 4.6 The nomination paper must indicate the name, signature and student/employee number of each nominator. 
• 4.7 A member of a constituent group may sign the nomination paper for more than one candidate of the group for 

nomination. 
• 4.8 Nomination papers will be returned to the Electoral Committee. Papers received after the deadline will be rejected. 
• 4.9 The Electoral Committee will review all nomination papers for conformity to this procedure. 
• 4.10 The Electoral Committee will publish the list of nominees. 

5.0 Procedure - Canvassing Process 

• 5.1 Between the establishing and publishing of the slate of candidates and the date of election there will be a period during 
which individuals may canvas their respective groups. 

• 5.2 Complaints with regard to the conduct of nominees must be addressed to the Electoral Committee. 

6.0 Procedure - Election Process 

• 6.1 The elections will be supervised by the Electoral Committee which will determine supplementary procedures that are 
not addressed in this by-law. 

• 6.2 The Electoral Committee will determine if a secure anonymous online vote or an election with in-person paper ballots 
will be conducted. If an in-person paper ballot election is chosen then the Electoral Committee will ensure that a sufficient 
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number of polling stations is identified and staffed and that ballot boxes are obtained to permit the opportunity for all 
members of the constituent groups to vote. 

• 6.3 The vote will be either by a paper secret ballot or an anonymous secure online vote. 
• 6.4  If an in-person paper ballot, Eeach polling station will have a listing of each member of the constituent group provided 

by the department responsible for maintaining employee lists. The name of each voter will be removed after a ballot is 
distributed. 

• 6.5  When the election is conducted by an anonymous secure online vote, the most current employee lists will be provided 
by the college department responsible for maintaining employee lists to the Information Technology Department and by 
the College Registrar for Student Governor elections.   

• 6.5 At each polling station, the vote for academic, support and administrative members will be supervised by a 
representative of the constituent group voting. 

• 6.6 The Electoral Committee will count the paper vote. For an anonymous secure online election the vote is tabulated by 
the online voting program.  

• 6.7 The Electoral Committee will inform forward the results of the election to the Chair of the Board of the election results 
and the Board Executive Assistant on behalf of the Chair will inform the candidates and the constituency group. for public 
announcement. 

• 6.8 The successful candidate for each constituent group will require a plurality of the votes cast by the appropriate group. 

7.0 Procedure - Dispute Resolution 

• 7.1 Any individual who has a complaint as to the application of this by-law through its procedures has the right to address 
such complaint to the Chair of the Electoral Committee. 

• 7.2 The complaint must be in writing and must indicate the details of the alleged violation of policy and procedure. 
• 7.3 The Chair will forward the complaint to the Electoral Committee for review. 
• 7.4 The Electoral Committee will investigate the complaint and attempt to resolve it. 
• 7.5 Failing resolution by the Electoral Committee, the complaint may be referred by either the complainant or the Electoral 

Committee to the Chair of the Board who shall, within 5 days of such referral, appoint an independent third party to 
investigate the complaint. 

• 7.6 The third party's mandate is restricted to a determination as to whether the policy and procedures of this by-law have 
been correctly applied and if not: 

o 7.6.1 if the election has not yet been completed, what remedial measures should be undertaken to remedy, so far 
as is reasonably possible, the impact of the acts or omissions upon which the complaint was based; and 

o 7.6.2 if the election has been completed, whether the will of the constituent group is nevertheless reflected in the 
election results and if not whether the election must be repeated. 

• 7.7 The third party will commence the dispute resolution process within ten (10) working days of appointment and shall 
complete the dispute resolution within 20 days of the third party's appointment. 

• 7.8 The third party will establish appropriate procedures and the Board and representatives of the constituent groups will 
comply with all reasonable requests by the third party for information relating to the complaint. 

• 7.9 The report of the third party will be binding on the Board, the complainant, and the affected constituent group. 

8.0 Procedure - Equality of Votes 

• 8.1 In the event that the election shall result in a tie vote between two or more candidates, then, upon the written request 
of any of the tied candidates delivered to the Chair of the Electoral Committee within 48 hours of the announcement of the 
election results, the votes shall be recounted under the supervision of an independent third party to be appointed by the 
Chair of the Electoral Committee. 

• 8.2 The independent third party shall be appointed as quickly as is possible and in any event within 4 working days of the 
written request for a recount being given to the Chair of the Electoral Committee. Such recount shall be completed as 
quickly as is reasonably possible and in any event within 7 working days of the appointment of the independent third 
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party. The results of the recount shall be set out in a written report of the independent third party which shall be delivered 
to the Chair of the Electoral Committee and to each candidate. The report of such independent third party shall be final 
and binding on all parties concerned and the candidate shown by such recount to have received the greatest number of 
votes shall be declared to have been elected. 

• 8.3 In the event that the written report of the independent third party shall report that the votes for two or more 
candidates remain tied, then the tie shall be resolved by the drawing of straws under the supervision of the Chair of the 
Electoral Committee. The winner of such drawing of straws shall be declared to have been elected. 

9.0 Procedure - Other 

• 9.1 In the event of a mid-term vacancy the Electoral Committee will reconvene and supervise a nomination and election 
process for the constituent group affected by the vacancy. 

• 9.2 The term of the member elected commences on the date of election and shall be of same length as the person originally 
elected and shall terminate on August 31st of the year in which the terms ends. 

10.0 

This by-law becomes effective on the date that it is passed and the pre-existing policy relating to the election of College constituent 
group representatives to the Board are repealed as of said date. 

Reviewed this day of April 8, 2021 or June 3, 2021 October 16, 2015 

Signature on Original 

 

Janice McMichael-Dennis, Chair Signature on Original 

 

Spencer Dickson, Secretary-Treasurer  
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4-007 - Performance Evaluation 
 

MOTION: 2018-17 

DATE APPROVED: November 27, 2003 

SUPERSEDES: Policy No. 3000-3-7 

REVIEWED: April 5, 2018 

POLICY NO: 4-007 

Lambton College is committed to excellent teaching and learning and the provision of excellent service to achieve the values and 
standards outlined in the College’s Strategic Plan. 

Toward that end, the College will regularly review the performance of its employees for the purpose of the following: 

1. Providing a forum for open discussion of individual strengths and identification of areas where improvement is needed;  

2. Providing assistance to the individual for improvement of performance and ongoing development;  

3. Providing an opportunity for the individual and supervisor to set mutual objectives;  

4. Providing a fair and effective basis for making a personnel decision;  

5. Recognizing the importance of the individual’s contribution to institutional success.  

The President will establish procedures governing performance evaluation of College employees to ensure compliance with these 
objectives. 
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4-012 - Employee Recognition Policy 
 

MOTION: 2003-73 

DATE APPROVED: TBD 

SUPERSEDES: November 27, 2003 

REVIEWED: February 2015, with changes 

AMENDED:  

POLICY NO: 4-012 

 

The Board of Governors believes that recognizing and honouring all categories of employees for service, leadership,  and academic 
excellence and wellness is integral to a positive and productive work environment.   

The President will ensure that an Employee Recognition Policy is established.  
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4-005 - Recruitment & Selection 
 

MOTION: 2018-17 

DATE APPROVED: November 27, 2003 

REVIEWED: April 5, 2018 

POLICY NO: 4-005 

 
Lambton College recognizes the importance of a workplace reflective of the diversity of students and communities it serves. In the 
selection and recruitment of all employees, Lambton College is committed to hiring the best-qualified person available for each 
position. The College recognizes the worth and dignity of all candidates by providing equality of access and opportunity for 
employment; encourages fair and open competition while ensuring all contractual and legislative requirements are met; and 
encourages its employees to realize their career goals and reach their maximum potential. 

The President will establish procedures governing the recruitment and selection of College staff to ensure compliance with these 
objectives. 

Lambton College recognises that its faculty and staff are fundamental to its success. The College therefore is commited to attracting 
and retaining faculty and staff of the highest calibre. To achieve this goal, the College has established the following Recruitment and 
Selection process objectives: 

• Promotion and support of the principals of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion 

• Hiring on merit, selecting the best qualified individual for a position 
• Meet all contractual and statutory requirements  

 

The President will establish procedures governing the recruitment and selection of College staff to ensure compliance with these 
objectives. 

 



 

 
 
 
 
Lambton College Board of Governors 
1457 London Rd 
Sarnia ON, N7S 6K4 
 
 
Attention: Chair of the Board 

Dear Janice: 

We are writing this letter on behalf of the Local Executive Committee (LEC) and the members of 
OPSEU Local 124, we support the Support Staff employee group for the College. We would first 
like to thank you and all the Governors for their time and commitment to Lambton College’s 
Students, Staff and Faculty.  

At the last meeting we were made aware that the topic of immigration came up in reference to 
our growing international student population. Although we support all members and recognize 
their freedom of speech, we thought it was critical that the opinion of the LEC and other 
members was also shared. When it was presented to the board that we would be continuing 
construction and creating nine new jobs, that, to us, showed that Lambton College can see a 
light at the end of this tunnel. After layoffs and a year of uncertainty, we are solid again. We 
recognize this job security would not be possible without the wonderful work of our peers in the 
International office. We not only welcome but are excited about the vibrant culture that our 
international student body brings to Lambton College’s campus.  

The increase in immigration to our city creates much needed diversity and is a chance for us to 
be educated on other customs and cultures. The local along with its membership is excited to 
welcome another cohort of international students this fall.  

So, thank you for all the hard work and commitment to make this college a destination for all 
students international and domestic.  

 
 
Sincerely, 
 
OPSEU Local 124 Executive Committee 
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